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Directors’ Report

Your directors submit their report of the consolidated entity (the 
“Group”), being Heritage Bank Limited (“Heritage”) and its controlled 
entities, for the year ended 30 June 2021.

DIRECTORS 

The name and details of the directors of the Group in office during 
the financial year and until the date of this report are as follows.  
Directors were in office for this entire period unless otherwise 
stated.  

NAME AND QUALIFICATIONS  

Mr Kerry J. Betros AM, 
BBus, HonDBus USQ, FCPA, MAICD  
Chairman of Directors   

Mr Betros has been a Director of Heritage since 1991. He was 
appointed to the role of Deputy Chairman in 2011 and became 
Chairman of Directors in June 2012.  He was the inaugural Chairman 
of Heritage’s Finance Committee, Chairman of the Audit Committee 
and has served on a number of other committees. He is currently 
Chairman of the Remuneration and Nominations Committee and an 
ex-officio member on all Board Committees.  Mr Betros is Managing 
Director of Betros Bros Holdings Pty Ltd and associated companies, 
Darling Downs based wholesalers and retailers, established in 1938. 
He graduated from DDIAE (now USQ) with a Bachelor of Business 
majoring in management and accounting and was awarded the 
College Medal.  He is a Fellow of CPA Australia.  For his distinguished 
service to the community Mr Betros has been awarded the 
Centenary of Federation Medal and in 2019 received an Honorary 
Award of Doctor of Business from the University of Southern 
Queensland for his distinguished career and significant achievement 
in business, commerce and management.  In 2021, Mr Betros also 
received one of Australia’s highest honours when he was appointed 
a Member of the Order of Australia (AM).  Mr Betros has served on 
various Boards and been involved with many charitable, community 
and sporting organisations, including as a Director of St Vincent’s 
Private Hospital.  

Dr Dennis P. Campbell 
PhD, MBA, FCHSE, CHE, FAIM, GAICD   
Deputy Chairman  

Dr Campbell was previously a Chief Executive Officer in both the 
public and private health sectors. He held the position of CEO at 
St Vincent’s Hospital, Toowoomba for ten years. He also served as 
a Corporate Director with Legal Aid, Queensland for ten years. He 
serves as a member of numerous Boards and Advisory Committees, 
representing both public and private health sectors and has legal 
and health qualifications. Dr Campbell joined the Heritage Bank 
Board in 2000 and became Chairman of the Technology Committee 

when it was formed in 2018 and is a member of the Remuneration 
and Nominations Committee and Risk and Compliance Committee. 
He also serves as a trustee of the Queensland Museum Foundation, 
is Chairperson of the Friends Executive Committee of the Cobb & 
Co Museum, Toowoomba and is Deputy Chairman of the Darling 
Downs Hospital and Health Board. In 2007, he was awarded an 
Australia Day Medallion for his services to the Australian College of 
Health Service Executives. In 2008, he was awarded the Gold Medal 
for Leadership and Achievement in Health Services Management 
recognising his contribution and professional achievements in 
shaping health care policy at the institutional, state and national 
levels. Dr Campbell was appointed Deputy Chairman of Heritage on 
21 June 2012.  

Mr Brendan P. Baulch  
BCom, LLB, CA, MAICD  

Mr Baulch is a Chartered Accountant based in Toowoomba. He 
began his career with PriceWaterhouse in their corporate tax 
division in Melbourne, after which he spent a total of eight years in 
London, gaining international accounting experience in a range of 
business sectors including telecommunications (Cable & Wireless 
plc), investment banking (Société Générale) and insurance (Lloyd’s 
of London). He is currently the principal of Baulch & Associates, a 
Toowoomba-based accounting practice providing taxation, audit 
and management accounting services. Mr Baulch is a registered 
tax agent and a registered company auditor. He was appointed a 
Director in 2007, has been a member of the Audit Committee and 
was appointed Chairman of the Audit Committee on 1 July 2011. He 
is also a member of the Risk and Compliance Committee.  

Mr Stephen Davis  
AAPI, MAICD  

Mr Davis is a registered valuer and previously a licensed auctioneer 
and real estate agent. He is also the Managing Director of 
Australian Strata Title Services Pty Ltd trading as Toowoomba Body 
Corporate Management. Mr Davis has been involved in community 
organisations and is currently the Deputy Chairman and Treasurer 
of the Toowoomba Hospice Association. Mr Davis was appointed to 
the Heritage Bank Board on 1 July 2011 and is a member of the 
Audit and Technology Committees. Mr Davis was appointed as an 
inaugural director of Heritage Bank Charitable Foundation in 2018.  

Ms Wendy Machin  
B.A. (Communication), M.Com, GAICD   

Ms Machin was appointed to the Heritage Bank Board in March 
2019. She is a member of the Risk and Compliance, Audit and 
Remuneration and Nominations Committees. She has extensive 
experience in the financial services sector, the member-owned 
sector and in the political and regulatory realm. Ms Machin spent 
four years as Chair of the Customer Owned Banking Association 
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(COBA), the peak body for customer-owned financial institutions in 
this country. She is currently Chair of Reflections Holiday Parks and 
the NSW Government Road Reclassification and Transfer Review.  
She is a Director of Golf Australia and Vice Chairman of the NSW 
Nationals. She has previously been the President and Chair of the 
NRMA; a Director of Destination NSW, Chair of ANCAP, Director of the 
NSW Forestry Corporation, a Director of the Australian Automobile 
Association and the National Occupation Licensing Authority; as well 
as spending 11 years as a Member of the NSW Legislative Assembly, 
including a period as Minister for Consumer Affairs.  

Mr Peter Clare 
BCom, MBA, FCPA, MAICD  

Mr Peter Clare joined the Heritage Board in April 2020.  He is the 
Chairman of the Risk and Compliance Committee and a member of 
the Technology Committee. Mr Clare boasts an exceptional banking 
resume and wide industry experience. He began his career as an 
Insolvency Practitioner with firms BO Smith and Son, Howarth and 
Howarth, and Ferrier Hodgson. After moving into banking, Mr Clare 
held senior roles at Commonwealth Bank, and served on the senior 
executive leadership teams at both St George and Westpac. That 
included a two-and-a-half year period up to 2014 as the CEO of 
Westpac New Zealand. In recent years, he has served on a variety  
of boards in the technology and finance industries in Australia.  
Mr Clare holds a Bachelor of Commerce from the University of New 
South Wales and an MBA from Macquarie University.   

Mr David W. Thorpe  
BEc (Hons), FCPA, GAICD  
(retired 22 April 2021)  

Mr Thorpe was Chief Executive Officer of the Queensland 
Association of Permanent Building Societies for more than 20 years 
and Associate Director of the Australian Finance Conference. He also 
worked in executive positions in private and public companies as 
well as the Commonwealth and Queensland Governments.  
Mr Thorpe was appointed to the Heritage Bank Board on 18 April 
2012 and was a member of the Risk and Compliance Committee 
(Chairman from July 2014). 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER  

Mr Peter Lock  
BBus, MBA, GradDipAppFin, SF FIN, GAICD   
Chief Executive Officer  

Mr Peter Lock has more than 35 years’ experience in the financial 
services industry spanning insurance, institutional banking, business 
development, business banking and corporate banking. He has held 
senior management roles at the Bank of Melbourne, St George Bank, 
and the Commonwealth Bank, following a career with the National 
Australia Bank. Mr Lock is a Senior Fellow of the Financial Services 
Institute of Australasia, and a Graduate Member of the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors. Mr Lock holds a Bachelor of Business 
and Master of Business Administration from the University of 
South Australia, and a Graduate Diploma in Applied Finance from 
the Finance and Securities Institute of Australia. He is also a Board 
member of the Customer Owned Banking Association (COBA) and 
the Business Council of Cooperatives and Mutuals (BCCM).   

COMPANY SECRETARY  

Mr Benn Wogan  
BCom, LLB, MBA   
General Counsel and Company Secretary  

Mr Benn Wogan joined Heritage on a permanent basis in March 
2018, prior to which he performed the Heritage General Counsel 
role on a secondment basis since September 2017. He previously 
held Legal Director and Senior Legal Counsel roles with PwC. He 
holds law and commerce degrees from the University of Canterbury 
(Christchurch, NZ)  and a Masters of Business Administration from 
Macquarie Graduate School of Management, Sydney.  

Ms Susan Anderson   
LLB, BCom   
Senior Legal Counsel/Assistant Company Secretary  

Ms Anderson joined Heritage in October 2013. She previously 
worked as a lawyer for Barker Gosling Solicitors and held roles 
with J.P. Morgan UK and Suncorp. She holds degrees in law and 
commerce from the University of Queensland.  
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Directors’ Report (continued)

DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS

The number of meetings of directors (including meetings of committees of directors) held during the financial year and the number of 
meetings attended by each director were as follows:

1 Dr Campbell and Mr Clare are not members of the Audit Committee, attended the meetings by invitation.

2 Mr Davis is not a member of the Risk and Compliance Committee, attended the meetings by invitation. 

3  Mr Baulch, Mr Davis, Mr Clare and Mr Thorpe are not members of the Remuneration and Nominations Committee, attended the 
meetings by invitation. 

4 Ms Machin was appointed to the Audit Committee on 6 May 2021.  

5 Dr Campbell was appointed to the Risk and Compliance Committee on 23 April 2021.  

6 The Technology Committee includes two independent, experienced technology professionals, Mr G O’Hara and Mr M Darbyshire. 

The meetings held during the year indicate the number of meetings held during the period the individual was a director or committee 
member. 

Mr Betros is an ex officio member, not an appointed member of the Audit Committee, Risk and Compliance Committee and Technology 
Committee.

Board Audit Risk and Compliance 
Remuneration  

and Nominations
Technology6

Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended

Mr Betros 13 13 6 5 7 6 5 5 4 3

Dr Campbell 13 13 11 1 35 3 5 5 4 4

Mr Baulch 13 13 6 6 7 7 53 5 - -

Mr Davis 13 13 6 6 22 2 43 4 4 4

Ms Machin 13 13 34 3 7 7 5 5 - -

Mr Clare 13 13 21 2 7 7 43 4 4 4 

Mr Thorpe 
(retired 22 April 2021)

9 9 5 5 6 6 33 3 - -
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES  

Heritage Bank Limited is a mutual bank that is incorporated and 
domiciled in Australia.  The principal activity of the Group during 
the year was the provision of financial products and services to 
customers.  There has been no significant change in the nature of 
these activities during the year.

The Group employed 809 full time equivalent employees as at  
30 June 2021 (2020 – 789 employees).  

REVIEW AND RESULT OF OPERATIONS  

The operating profit of the Group for the financial year after income 
tax was $44.810 million (2020 - $36.269 million). This represents a 
23.5% increase compared to the previous year.  

The Group reported a 11.2% increase in total consolidated assets to 
$11.943 billion (2020 - $10.739 billion). 

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE  
STATE OF AFFAIRS  

There was no significant change in the state of affairs of the Group 
during the year ended 30 June 2021 not otherwise listed in the 
report or the financial statements.  

DIVIDENDS  

The Constitution of Heritage prohibits the payment of dividends on 
member shares.  

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE  
BALANCE DATE  

Heritage announced on 18 August 2021 that it has entered into 
a non-binding Heads of Agreement with People's Choice Credit 
Union to explore a merger between the two entities. The merger 
will be subject to due diligence, regulatory approvals and approval 
by the members through a vote. The Boards of both organisations 
believe that the merger is in the best interests of members, as it will 
provide members benefits through increased scale, including access 
to a wider range of products and services, and an enhanced digital 
experience. Should plans proceed, it is estimated that the merger 
will occur on or before 1 July 2022.  

No other matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of 
the financial year which will affect the operating results or state of 
affairs of the Group in subsequent years.  

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND  
EXPECTED RESULTS  

A statement on the likely developments in the operations of the 
Group, and the expected results of these operations has not been 
included in the report because, in the opinion of the Directors, it 
could prejudice the interest of the economic entity.  

INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE OF  
DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS  

During the financial year, the Group paid premiums in respect of 
insurance contracts which insure each person who is or has been a 
director or executive officer of the Group against certain liabilities 
arising in the course of their activities to the Group. The directors 
have not included details of the nature of the liabilities covered, or 
the amount of the premium paid, as such disclosure is prohibited 
under the terms of the contract. The Constitution of Heritage 
provides that every person who is or has been a Director, Secretary 
or Officer of the Company shall be indemnified by the Company to 
the maximum extent permitted by law out of the property of the 
Company against any liabilities for costs and expenses incurred by 
that person as a result of that person so acting.  

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION  

In relation to the Auditor’s Independence, the Directors have sought 
and received a report that there have been no breaches of the 
Auditor Independence requirement of the Corporations Act 2001.  
The report is shown on page 51. 

OTHER MATTERS  

Environmental regulation  

The Group's operations are not subject to any significant 
environmental regulations under either Commonwealth or State 
legislation. The Board believes that the Group is not aware of any 
breach of environmental requirements as they apply to the Group.  

Capital Prudential Disclosures

For Australian Prudential Regulation Authority's (APRA)  
Authorised Deposit-taking Institution (ADI) Prudential Standard  
APS 330 Public Disclosure refer to the Prudential Information 
section of Heritage's website  (http://www.heritage.com.au/about/
prudential-information).    

Rounding 

The amounts contained in this report and in the financial 
statements have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars 
(where rounding is applicable) in accordance with ASIC Corporations 
Instrument 2016/191.    

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors:    

TOOWOOMBA KERRY J. BETROS DENNIS P. CAMPBELL    
26 August 2021 Chairman Deputy Chairman   
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The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

Note CONSOLIDATED AND PARENT

  
2021 
$'000

2020 
$'000

 

Interest income 284,295 334,284 

Interest expense  (79,263) (137,618)

Net interest income 2 205,032 196,666 

 

Other operating income 2 30,484 30,728 

Total operating income 235,516 227,394 

 

Operating expenses 3 (173,173) (163,383)

Credit impairment expense 9 2,053 (12,339)

Profit before income tax 64,396 51,672 

Income tax expense 4 (19,586) (15,403)

Profit for the year  44,810 36,269 

Income Statements



Heritage Bank Limited Financial Report 2020/21 7
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

Note CONSOLIDATED AND PARENT

  
2021 
$'000

2020 
$'000

 

Profit for the year  44,810 36,269

 

Other comprehensive income  

 

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss  

Gain on cash flow hedge taken to members' funds 2,115 1,149

Gain / (loss) on cash flow hedge reclassified through profit or loss - - 

Income tax on other comprehensive income 4 (634) (345)

 

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss  

Remeasurement of defined benefit plan (267) 139

Revaluation decrement of land and buildings - (644)

Income tax on other comprehensive income 4 - 193

 

Other comprehensive income net of tax  1,214 492

 

Total comprehensive income  46,024 36,761

Statements of Comprehensive Income
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The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements

AS AT 30 JUNE 2021

Note CONSOLIDATED PARENT

  
2021 
$'000

2020 
$'000

2021 
$'000

2020 
$'000

Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 5 943,446 283,865 943,446 283,865 

Receivables 6 32,293 34,763 32,293 34,763 

Investment Securities 7 1,968,617 1,674,227 4,389,897 4,098,077 

Net Loans and Advances 8 8,905,650 8,642,413 8,905,650 8,642,413 

Derivative Financial Instruments 10 3,281 240 3,281 240 

Deferred Tax Assets 4 10,658 13,421 10,658 13,421 

Property, Plant and Equipment 16 56,350 66,411 56,350 66,411 

Other Assets 7,424 5,794 7,424 5,794 

Intangibles and Prepaid Costs 17 15,319 17,814 15,319 17,814 

Total Assets  11,943,038 10,738,948 14,364,318 13,162,798 

Liabilities

Deposits 11  9,578,354  8,442,180  9,578,354  8,442,180 

Other Financial Liabilities 12  184,102  226,390  184,102  226,390 

Current Tax Liabilities  3,383  2,041  3,383  2,041 

Borrowings 13  1,439,950  1,369,695  3,861,230  3,793,545 

Derivative Financial Instruments 10  10  4,374  10  4,374 

Accounts Payable and Other Liabilities 18  56,866  60,941  56,866  60,941 

Other Provisions 19  23,756  22,734  23,756  22,734 

Total Liabilities   11,286,421  10,128,355  13,707,701  12,552,205 

  

Net Assets   656,617  610,593  656,617  610,593 

Members' Funds

Retained Profits  650,618  606,075  650,618  606,075 

Reserves 20  5,999  4,518  5,999  4,518 

Total Members' Funds   656,617  610,593  656,617  610,593 

Balance Sheets
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

CONSOLIDATED AND PARENT

Retained 
profits

Asset 
revaluation 

reserve 

Cash flow 
hedge reserve 

Total members' 
funds

  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Balance at 1 July 2020  606,075  5,064 (546)  610,593 

  

Profit for the year  44,810 -  -  44,810 

Other comprehensive income, net of tax  

Remeasurement of defined benefit plan  (267) -  - (267)

Net gain taken to members' funds  - -  1,481  1,481 

Total comprehensive income   44,543 -  1,481  46,024 

  

Balance at 30 June 2021   650,618  5,064  935  656,617 

Balance at 1 July 2019  571,561  5,515 (1,350)  575,726 

Effect of adopting new accounting standards1  (1,894) -  - (1,894)

Balance at 1 July 2019 (restated)  569,667  5,515 (1,350)  573,832 

Profit for the year  36,269 -  -  36,269 

Other comprehensive income, net of tax

Remeasurement of defined benefit plan  139 -  -  139 

Revaluation decrement of land and buildings - (451)  - (451)

Net gain taken to members' funds - -  804  804 

Total comprehensive income   36,408 (451)  804  36,761 

Balance at 30 June 2020   606,075  5,064 (546)  610,593 

1  The financial results reflect the adoption of AASB 16 Leases (AASB 16) on 1 July 2019. The modified retrospective approach has 
been applied as permitted by AASB 16, comparative information has not been restated. The cumulative effect of applying AASB 16 is 
recognised in retained profits at 1 July 2019. 

Statements of Changes in Members’ Funds
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The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

Note CONSOLIDATED PARENT

  
2021 
$'000

2020 
$'000

2021 
$'000

2020 
$'000

  

Cash flows from operating activities   

Interest received  277,350  336,127  277,350  336,127 

Borrowing costs and interest paid (88,174) (150,180) (88,174) (150,180)

Other non-interest income received  18,558  15,856  18,558  15,856 

Payments to suppliers and employees (149,789) (137,674) (149,789) (137,674)

Income tax paid (15,481) (19,813) (15,481) (19,813)

Net increase in loans and advances and other receivables (259,567) (214,491) (259,567) (214,491)

Net increase in deposits and short term borrowings  1,102,821  573,252  1,102,821  573,252 

Net cash flows from operating activities 26  885,718  403,077  885,718  403,077 

  

Cash flows from investing activities   

Net increase in investment securities and receivables due 
from other financial institutions (288,938) (358,094) (288,938) (358,094)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  82  1,617  82  1,617 

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment and intangibles (7,491) (8,244) (7,491) (8,244)

Net cash flows used in investing activities  (296,347) (364,721) (296,347) (364,721)

  

Cash flows from financing activities   

Proceeds from borrowings  588,452  464,778  588,452  464,778 

Repayment of borrowings (518,242) (433,827) (518,242) (433,827)

Net cash flows from financing activities   70,210  30,951  70,210  30,951 

  

Net increase in cash held  659,581  69,307  659,581  69,307 

Cash - beginning of the year  283,865  214,558  283,865  214,558 

Cash and cash equivalents - end of the year 5  943,446  283,865  943,446  283,865 

Cash Flow Statements
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION   

1.  About Our Financial Statements 

These are the consolidated financial statements for Heritage Bank 
Limited and its controlled entities (together, the Group) for the year 
ended 30 June 2021. On 26 August 2021 the Directors resolved to 
authorise the issue of these financial statements.  

The parent entity, Heritage Bank Limited (Heritage) is a mutual 
bank that is incorporated and domiciled in Australia. The nature of 
operations and principal activities of the Group is the provision of 
financial products and services to members. The liability of members 
is limited by guarantee as set out in the Constitution.  

Information in the financial statements is included to the extent  
we consider it material and relevant to the understanding of the 
financial statements. A disclosure is considered material and 
relevant if, for example:  

 • the amount is significant in size; 

 • the information is significant by nature; 

 •  the user cannot understand the Group's results without the 
specific disclosure; and 

 •  the information is required under legislative requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001. 

Basis of preparation  

The financial report is a general purpose financial report, prepared 
by a 'for profit' entity, in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board (AASB), the Corporations Act 2001, 
and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and 
interpretations published by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (IASB).  

The financial report is presented in Australian dollars and all 
values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollar ($'000) unless 
otherwise stated under the option available to the Group under ASIC 
Corporations Instrument 2016/191.  

Comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in 
presentation for the current financial year.  The content and structure 
of the financial statements have been reviewed to simplify and 
improve the presentation and relevance of financial information 
presented.  These changes have not impacted on reported profit or 
net assets.

The Group conducts a securitisation program under an arrangement 
where mortgage loans equitably assigned to a separate legal 
entity are converted to debt securities which are purchased by 
investors. In some instances the Group is also the holder of the 
securitised notes. The securitisation programs' underlying pool of 
financial instruments are recorded within the Group's Net Loans and 
Advances. In prior years, the balances related to these internally held 
securitisation notes were netted off within the financial statements. 
The balances are now disclosed separately within financial assets 

and the associated liability on the Balance Sheet. For comparative 
purposes, the prior year balances have been reclassified throughout 
the financial statements.   

There is no effect on net assets, and there is no change to the 
consolidated Balance Sheet.  

Basis of measurement  

We have prepared the financial information in accordance with the 
historical cost basis, except for the following assets and liabilities 
which we have stated at their fair value:  

 • derivative financial instruments; and 

 • land and buildings. 

Key judgments and estimates  

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies, 
management has made judgments and estimates in determining 
the amounts recognised in the financial statements. Further 
information on the key judgments and estimates that we consider 
material to the financial statements are contained within each 
relevant note to the financial statements.  

New and amended standards adopted this financial year

There have been no new or amended accounting standards adopted 
in the current year that had a material impact other than Software-
as-a-Service arrangements.

Software-as-a-Service (SaaS) arrangements

The International Financial Reporting Standards Interpretations 
Committee (IFRIC) has issued two final agenda decisions which 
impact SaaS arrangements:

•  Customer's right to receive access to the supplier's software 
hosted on the cloud (March 2019) - this decision considers 
whether a customer receives a software asset at the contract 
commencement date or a service over the contract term. 

•  Configuration or customisation costs in a cloud computing 
arrangement (April 2021) - this decision discusses whether 
configuration or customisation expenditure relating to SaaS 
arrangements can be recognised as an intangible asset, and if not, 
over what time period the expenditure is expensed. 

The adoption of the above agenda decisions has resulted in 
licencing and other costs of $0.624 million being recognised in the 
current year and prepaid implementation costs of $1.955 million, 
disclosed within Note 17.  For the prior period $1.270 million was 
recognised as prepaid implementation costs. 

Accounting standards not early adopted  

A number of amendments to standards and interpretations have 
been recently issued or amended, but are not yet effective and have 
not been early adopted by the Group from 1 July 2020. While these 
remain subject to ongoing assessment, no significant impacts to the 
Group's financial statements have been identified to date. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

CONSOLIDATED AND PARENT

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

2.  Operating Income   

     

Net interest income

Interest income

Investment securities  15,273  23,689 

Loans and advances to members  268,320  310,072 

Interest rate swaps  702  523 

Total interest income   284,295  334,284 

Interest expense

Deposits  61,531  102,950 

Borrowings  15,787  31,689 

Interest rate swaps  1,945  2,979 

Total interest expense   79,263  137,618 

Total net interest income   205,032  196,666 

Other operating income

Insurance commission  6,973  6,747 

Interchange commission  6,055  5,951 

Other fees and commissions  1,976  2,549 

Total fees and commissions   15,004  15,247 

Banking fees  13,915  14,735 

Net gain / (loss) on derivatives held at fair value  35 (9)

Other  1,530  755 

Other Income   15,480  15,481 

Total other operating income   30,484 30,728

Total operating income   235,516 227,394

RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT
Interest income and expense

We use the effective interest rate method to recognise the interest income and expense on financial assets and liabilities held at 
amortised cost. The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts the stream of estimated future cash receipts or payments over 
the expected life of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or liability.

We recognise fees and costs, which form an integral part of the financial instrument (for example loan origination fees and 
transaction costs), using the effective interest rate method. These costs are presented as part of interest income or expense.
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

2.  Operating Income (continued)

RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT (continued)
Fees and commissions from contracts with customers

We recognise insurance commission revenue as the performance obligation is satisfied, which is at the point in time when a new 
client introduced by the Group originates an insurance policy with the third party insurer. These insurance commissions are paid 
monthly based on the number of new and renewed policies originated through the Group.

We recognise interchange commission at the point in time when the transaction is made by the customer for the relevant product 
on which commission is earned. These commissions are paid daily based on the volume of transactions made by customers for these 
products.

Other fees and commissions, banking fees and other income are recognised when the performance obligation is satisfied, which is 
at the point in time when the customer benefited from the service provided by the Group.

CONSOLIDATED AND PARENT

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

3.  Operating Expenses  
     

Personnel  

Salaries and related costs  77,468  72,771 

Superannuation costs  6,790  6,589 

Other  5,813  5,309 

Total personnel expense   90,071  84,669 
 

Occupancy  

Depreciation of right of use assets  11,472  12,184 

Other depreciation  4,598  4,621 

Lease liability interest expense  644  816 

Other  2,292  2,629 

Total occupancy expense   19,006  20,250 
 

Information technology  

Depreciation - computer equipment  2,545  3,067 

Amortisation of capitalised software  6,360  5,603 

Licencing and other software costs  8,314  6,159 

Other  3,614  5,038 

Total information technology expense   20,833  19,867 
 

Operating and administrative  

Processing costs  11,255  10,160 

Stationary, postage and communication  3,947  3,931 

Professional fees  7,272  6,615 

Marketing  7,114  7,730 

Other  13,675  10,161 

Total operating and administrative expense   43,263  38,597 

 

Total operating expenses   173,173 163,383
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

CONSOLIDATED AND PARENT

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

4.  Taxation  
     
The major components of income tax expense are:  

 
Income Statement  

Current income tax expense  

Current income tax charge 17,830 19,593 

Adjustment for prior years (373) (902)
 

Deferred income tax expense  

Deferred income tax relating to temporary differences   2,129 (3,288)

Total income tax expense   19,586  15,403 
 

Statement of Comprehensive Income  

Cash flow hedges (634) (345)

Asset revaluation reserve  -  193 

Income tax reported in other comprehensive income  (634) (152)
 

Tax reconciliation  
 

Profit before income tax   64,396  51,672 

Income tax at the statutory tax rate of 30%  19,319  15,502 

Adjust for tax effect of:  

Non-deductible expenses  85  110 

Adjustment for prior years  182 (209)

Income tax on profit before tax   19,586  15,403 

3.  Operating Expenses (continued)

RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT

Salaries and related costs

Salaries and related costs include employee entitlements and other entitlements. We accrue annual leave and other entitlements 
expected to be paid within twelve months using remuneration rates that the Group expects to pay when the liabilities are settled.

We accrue long service entitlements for all employees from their date of commencement. Assumptions used in the calculation 
include expected years of service and future salary increases. The calculation is discounted using market yields at the reporting 
date. The market yields are determined from a blended rate of high quality corporate bonds with terms to maturity that closely 
match the estimated future cash outflows.

Occupancy expenses

The Group recognises leases primarily related to branch premises and offices. In accordance with AASB 16 Leases, the Group 
recognises its right to use an underlying leased asset over the lease term as a right of use (ROU) asset, and its obligation to make 
lease payments as a lease liability. The Group recognises depreciation expense on the ROU asset and interest expense on the lease 
liability over the term of the lease. Further information is included in Note 16 Property, Plant and Equipment and Note 18 Accounts 
Payable and Other Liabilities. The Group has elected not to recognise right of use assets and lease liabilities for leases of low value 
assets. These costs have been included in other operating and administrative costs.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
CONSOLIDATED AND PARENT

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

4.  Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax assets comprise temporary differences attributable to:

Employee benefits  4,911  5,024 

Allowance for expected credit losses  5,296  6,234 

Cash flow hedges  -  233 

Lease liability  1,493  1,261 

Other  3,251  2,746 

Total deferred tax assets  14,951  15,498 

Deferred tax liabilities comprise temporary differences attributable to:

Plant and equipment  3,688  1,974 

Cash flow hedges  401  - 

Other  204  103 

Total deferred tax liabilities  4,293  2,077 

Net deferred tax assets  10,658 13,421

RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT

Income tax expense

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred taxes and is based on the accounting profit adjusted for differences in the 
accounting and tax treatment of income and expenses (taxable income). We recognise tax expense in the Income Statement  
except when the tax relates to items in other comprehensive income, in which case we recognise the tax directly in other 
comprehensive income.

Current income tax expense

Current income tax is the tax we expect to pay on taxable income for the year including any adjustments for prior years. The tax is 
based on tax rates and tax laws which are enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Deferred tax arises as a result of the accounting income not always being the same as the taxable income. This creates temporary 
differences, which usually reverse over time. Until they reverse we recognise a deferred tax asset, or liability on the balance sheet. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax credits and deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that 
future taxable profits will be available against which they can be used. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and 
are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

Goods and services tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred is not 
recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office. In these circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of 
the asset or as part of an item of the expense. Receivables and payables in the Balance Sheet are shown inclusive of GST.
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FINANCIAL ASSETS
       

CLASSIFICATION AND MEASUREMENT - FINANCIAL ASSETS

There are three measurement classifications for financial assets under AASB 9 Financial Instruments (AASB 9): amortised cost, fair 
value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). Financial assets are classified into 
these categories on the basis of two criteria:

• the business model within which the financial asset is managed (business model assessment); and

• the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset, whether the cash flows represent solely payments of principal and 
interest (SPPI test).

Business model assessment

We determine the business model by considering the purpose of the portfolio, how the relevant risks are managed and the basis 
on which the performance of the portfolio is evaluated.

SPPI test

In making the SPPI assessment we consider relevant factors such as how principal is repaid and whether interest reflects the time 
value of money and credit risk.

The resulting financial asset classifications are as follows:

•  Amortised cost: Financial assets with contractual cash flows that comprise solely payments of principal and interest and which 
are held in a business model whose objective is to collect their cash flows;

•  FVOCI: Financial assets with contractual cash flows that comprise solely payments of principal and interest and which are held in 
a business model whose objective is to collect their cash flows or to sell the assets; and

• FVTPL: Any other financial assets not falling into one of the above two categories.

CONSOLIDATED AND PARENT

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

5.  Cash and Cash Equivalents  

       

Cash on hand       25,057    24,915 

Deposits with other authorised deposit-taking institutions    877,452    193,827 

Foreign currency floats    40,937    65,123 

Cash and Cash Equivalents       943,446    283,865 

 

6.  Receivables  

       

Securitisation deposits    31,763    31,763 

Other receivables   530    3,000 

Receivables       32,293    34,763 

 

Maturity analysis  

Not longer than 12 months   530    3,000 

Longer than 12 months    31,763    31,763 

Total       32,293    34,763 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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FINANCIAL ASSETS

CONSOLIDATED PARENT

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

7.  Investment Securities   

  

Bank debt securities      863,055    1,155,195      863,055    1,155,195 

Government debt securities    1,081,562      516,951    1,081,562      516,951 

Term deposits      24,000 -      24,000 - 

Asset backed debt securities -      2,081 -      2,081 

Investment in securitisation notes - -    2,421,280    2,423,850 

Total investment securities     1,968,617    1,674,227    4,389,897    4,098,077 

  

Maturity analysis   

Not longer than 12 months      218,338      713,829      218,338      713,829 

Longer than 12 months    1,750,279      960,398    4,171,559    3,384,248 

Total     1,968,617    1,674,227    4,389,897    4,098,077 

RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held with ADIs that have an original maturity of three months or less  
and foreign currency floats with prepaid card partners. We measure cash and cash equivalents at amortised cost.

Receivables

The securitisation deposits represent cash held within the securitisation trusts which are subject to restrictions on transfer.  
We measure receivables at amortised cost.

Investment securities

Investment securities are financial instruments we hold in order to collect principal and interest payments. We measure  
investment securities at amortised cost.
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FINANCIAL ASSETS

CONSOLIDATED AND PARENT

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

8.  Net Loans and Advances

Residential loans   8,540,585  8,306,729 

Business loans  180,063  156,436 

Credit cards  68,279  66,437 

Personal and other loans  134,377  133,592 

Gross loans and advances   8,923,304  8,663,194 

Allowance for expected credit losses (refer to Note 9) (17,654) (20,781)

Net loans and advances   8,905,650  8,642,413 

Maturity analysis

Not longer than 12 months   2,069,760  1,650,494 

Longer than 12 months   6,853,544  7,012,700 

Total   8,923,304  8,663,194 

RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT

Loans and advances are initially recognised at fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs such as broker expenses, and 
origination fees received and costs incurred which we amortise over the estimated life of the loan. Subsequently we then measure 
loans and advances at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less any provision for impairment.

The Group enters into transactions in which it transfers financial assets, primarily loans and advances. The transferred assets 
remain on the Group's balance sheet as the Group retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets. Refer 
to Note 23 Transfers of Financial Assets for further details.

Modified financial assets

If the terms of a financial asset are modified an assessment is made to determine if the changes to the terms of the existing 
financial asset are considered substantial. If the change in cash flows are substantially different the original financial asset is 
derecognised and a new asset is recognised at fair value. Any gain or loss between the original and new asset is recognised in 
profit or loss. Where a modification is considered not substantial the Group recalculates the gross carrying amount using the 
original effective interest rate and recognises the difference in the profit or loss.



Heritage Bank Limited Financial Report 2020/21 19

FINANCIAL ASSETS

CONSOLIDATED AND PARENT

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

9.  Allowance for Expected Credit Losses

Specific provision

Opening balance  4,908 4,716 

Charge to Income Statement  1,572  1,351 

Bad debts written off (1,867) (1,159)

Closing balance  4,613  4,908 

The following is an analysis of the specific provision:

Individual customer provision  549  1,119 

Prescribed provision  4,064  3,789 

Total specific provision  4,613  4,908 

RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT 

Specific provision (Stage 3 individually assessed)

An individual customer provision is maintained for any mortgage or business loan where there is objective evidence that a loss is 
likely to occur. Objective evidence includes but is not limited to a significant deterioration in collateral value or arrears. 

The specific provision also includes a prescribed provision in accordance with the methodology required by the Australian 
Prudential Regulation Authority (APRA). 

The individual customer provision is categorised as Stage 3 as described in the Collective provision.

CONSOLIDATED AND PARENT

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

Collective provision

Opening balance  15,873  4,302 

Charge to Income Statement (2,832)  11,571 

Closing balance  13,041  15,873 
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FINANCIAL ASSETS

9.  Allowance for Expected Credit Losses (continued)

The following is an analysis of the collective provision in the different stages of the ECL model.

CONSOLIDATED AND PARENT 

Stage 1  
12 month 

ECL 
$’000

Stage 2 
Lifetime ECL 

$’000

Stage 3 
Lifetime ECL 

$’000
Total 
$’000

As at 1 July 2020 10,271 4,343  1,259  15,873 

Increase / (decrease) in ECL model (2,197) 5,145 (653)  2,295 

Net decrease in overlays (1,877) (3,250)   - (5,127)

Balance as at 30 June 2021    6,197   6,238  606  13,041 

As at 1 July 2019  3,707   167  428  4,302 

Increase in ECL model  4,197   926  831  5,954 

Increase in modelled overlay  2,367  3,250   -  5,617 

Balance as at 30 June 2020  10,271  4,343  1,259  15,873 

At 30 June 2021 the collective provision includes a modelled outcome of $10.868 million and a management overlay of  
$2.173 million. The management overlay was estimated to mitigate the risk that modelling techniques do not capture all the risk 
factors relevant to the lending portfolio.

At 30 June 2020 the collective provision included a modelled outcome of $8.573 million and an overlay of $7.300 million relating 
to the unique operating environment due to COVID-19. In determining the overlay a scenario analysis had been undertaken to 
capture the additional uncertainty and stress that may have emerged as a result of the disruptions caused by COVID-19. 

RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT

Collective provision - Expected credit loss impairment model

In accordance with AASB 9, loans and advances have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics to recognise a loan 
allowance on a collective basis.

The collective provision is calculated using a forward-looking expected loss impairment model. Expected credit losses (ECL) are 
either measured over 12 months or the expected lifetime of the financial asset, depending on credit deterioration since origination, 
according to the following three-stage approach:

•  Stage 1 - On origination of a financial asset and where there has not been a significant increase in credit risk (SICR) since 
origination, an allowance equivalent to 12 months ECL is recognised. 

•  Stage 2 - Where there has been a SICR since origination, an allowance equivalent to lifetime ECL is recognised.

•  Stage 3 - Where there is objective evidence of impairment, an allowance equivalent to lifetime ECL is recognised.

Expected credit losses are estimated on a collective basis for exposures in Stage 1 and Stage 2 and are transferred to Stage 3 
specific provisions when the loan is individually assessed.

Collective provision - Measurement of expected credit loss

ECL is calculated as the Probability of default ('PD') x Loss given default ('LGD') x Exposure at default ('EAD'). The models that the  
Group developed have been calibrated to reflect PD and LGD estimates which incorporate unbiased, forward-looking views of 
macroeconomic conditions. 

The definition of default used in measuring credit losses is aligned with the regulatory definition of default. Default occurs when 
there are indicators that a customer is unlikely to fully satisfy contractual credit obligations to the Group, the exposure is 90 days 
past due or a loss has already been incurred.

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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FINANCIAL ASSETS
9.  Allowance for Expected Credit Losses (continued)

Charge to Income Statement
CONSOLIDATED AND PARENT

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

Increase in specific provision  1,572  1,351 

(Decrease) / increase in collective provision (2,832)  11,571 

Bad debts recovered (793) (583)

Total credit impairment charge to Income Statement (2,053)  12,339 

KEY JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES
In estimating the ECL the Group makes judgments and assumptions in relation to the selection of a modelling methodology, and 
the selection of inputs for the models. The following table summarises the key judgments and assumptions in relation to the model 
and also highlights significant changes during the year.

Judgment / assumption and description Changes during the year ended 30 June 2021

Selection of macroeconomic variables

Judgment is involved in determining which forward looking 
variables have the highest correlation to default rates observed  
in the portfolio.

There has been no changes to the types of variables used as 
model inputs. The variables include unemployment rates, RBA 
cash rate and GDP.

Economic forecast assumptions
Judgment is involved in determining the forecast settings for 
each relevant economic variable under each scenario (base 
case, upside and downside).

The forecast settings for each relevant economic variable are 
based on Management's view of the most likely future macro-
economic conditions at 30 June 2021. In forecasting future 
economic conditions assumptions are sourced from government 
and market projections. In the prior year assumptions were 
based on 'worst case' scenarios given the forecast deterioration 
in broader macro-economic factors last year.

Probability weighting of each economic scenario
Probability weighting of each economic scenario is determined by 
considering the risks and uncertainties surrounding the base case 
scenario.

The assigned probability weightings have been updated since 
the prior year to reflect a lower weighting on the downside 
scenario as a result of the Group's expectation of an improved 
economic outlook in comparison to the prior year. 

Management overlay
Management overlay adjustments to the ECL allowance are 
used in circumstances where it is judged that existing inputs, 
assumptions and modelling techniques do not capture all the 
risk factors relevant to the lending portfolios.

The modelled overlay that was incorporated in the prior 
year due to the uncertainty associated with COVID-19 has 
been replaced with a management overlay. Management has 
applied adjustments to the modelled ECL primarily to mitigate 
modelling risk and other specific conditions that are not able to 
be incorporated into modelled risk estimates.

Sensitivity analysis
The table below illustrates the sensitivity of collectively assessed ECL to key factors used in determining the allowance as at 30 June 2021:

Total 
$’000

Reported collective provision 13,041

100% upside scenario 12,456

100% base case scenario 12,793

100% downside scenario 13,872
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FINANCIAL ASSETS
CONSOLIDATED AND PARENT

Assets 
2021 
$’000

Liabilities 
2021 
$’000

Assets 
2020 
$’000

Liabilities 
2020 
$’000

10.  Derivative Financial Instruments

Derivatives held at fair value

Foreign currency swaps  1,944 10 240  3,596 

Derivatives held as cash flow hedges

Interest rate swaps  1,337 - -   778 

Total derivatives  3,281   10   240  4,374 

Feature and purpose

Foreign currency and interest rate swaps are contractual arrangements whose value is derived from an underlying price index defined 
in the contract that are settled at a future date. The two parties exchange a series of cash flows. Movements in the price of the 
underlying variables, which cause the value of the contract to fluctuate, are reflected in the fair value of the derivative.

The Group’s derivative financial instruments include the following categories:

Held at fair value Swaps held in order to manage risks that are not in a designated hedge 
accounting relationship (balance sheet management), held primarily to 
assist in managing counterparty risk.

Designated in hedging relationships Swaps designated into hedge accounting relationships in order to minimise 
volatility in net interest income arising from interest rate risk.

The Group utilises cash flow hedges for the hedge accounting relationship, detailed below:

Cash flow hedges Description

Objective To hedge variability in cash flows from recognised financial assets and 
liabilities arising from interest rate risk

Hedged risk Interest rate risk 

Hedging instruments Pay fixed / receive variable interest rate swaps and receive fixed / pay 
variable interest rate swaps

Hedged item Variable interest rate financial assets and liabilities

Hedge effectiveness testing Regression analysis

Potential sources of ineffectiveness Mainly mismatches in terms of the hedged item and the hedging 
instrument as well as prepayment risk
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FINANCIAL ASSETS
10.  Derivative Financial Instruments (continued)
The following table shows the average rates of hedging instruments and the maturity profile for hedging instruments by notional amount.

CONSOLIDATED AND PARENT Notional amounts

Weighted 
average fixed 
interest rate 

Within 1 year 1 to 5 years Over 5 years

% ('000) ('000) ('000)

2021

Cash flow hedges - interest rate swaps 0.25% - 750,000 -

2020

Cash flow hedges - interest rate swaps 0.91% 40,000 70,000 -

The following table shows amounts related to the hedging instruments, including the fair value changes during the year used as the 
basis for calculating hedge ineffectiveness.

Gains / 
(losses) on 

hedging 
instruments

Gains / 
(losses) on 

hedged  
items

Net hedge 
ineffectiveness 

in profit 
or loss

('000) ('000) ('000)

2021

Cash flow hedges - interest rate swaps 2,115 (2,115) -

2020

Cash flow hedges - interest rate swaps 1,149 (1,149) -

RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT
Initial and subsequent recognition

Initially and at each reporting date we recognise the derivatives at fair value. If the fair value is positive then the swap is recognised 
as an asset, if it is negative it is recognised as a liability.

Impact on the Income Statement and Other Comprehensive Income

How we recognise the movement (gain or loss) in the fair value of the derivative financial instrument depends on the accounting 
category:

Held at fair value
Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value are recognised in profit or loss under Other operating income.

Designated as a cash flow hedge relationship
We recognise the effective portion of changes in the fair value in the cash flow hedge reserve (Other Comprehensive Income). Any 
ineffective portion is recognised in the profit or loss under Other operating income.

Hedge effectiveness

To qualify for hedge accounting, a hedge is expected to be highly effective. A hedge is highly effective if it meets the following:

•effective in achieving offsetting changes in cash flows attributable to the hedged risk during the period; and

•the actual results of the hedge are within the range of 80% to 125%.
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FINANCIAL ASSETS

10.  Derivative Financial Instruments (continued)

RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT (continued)

Measurement

Both the interest rate swaps and the foreign currency swaps that we transact are bespoke arrangements with no active market. The 
measurement of the fair value is undertaken using a discounted cash flow analysis. Refer to Note 15 Fair Value of Financial Assets 
and Financial Liabilities for further information.

AASB 9 provides the Group with an accounting policy choice to continue to apply the AASB 139 hedge accounting requirements 
until the International Accounting Standards Board’s ongoing project on macro hedge accounting is completed. The Group 
continues to apply the hedge accounting requirements of AASB 139.

KEY JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES

Judgment is required when we select the valuation techniques used to determine the fair value of derivatives and the inputs used in 
the valuation where there is no active market. Refer to Note 15 Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities for further details.

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

CLASSIFICATION AND MEASUREMENT - FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

There are two measurement classifications for financial liabilities under AASB 9:

• Amortised cost; and 
• Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).

Other than derivative liabilities (refer Note 10), financial liabilities of the Group are classified at amortised cost.

CONSOLIDATED PARENT

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

11.  Deposits

Member at call and deposit accounts  9,209,678  7,699,422  9,209,678  7,699,422 

Short term wholesale deposits and borrowings  368,676  742,758  368,676  742,758 

Deposits  9,578,354  8,442,180  9,578,354  8,442,180 

12.  Other Financial Liabilities

Foreign currency liabilities  184,102  226,390  184,102  226,390 

13.  Borrowings

Term debt (senior unsecured notes)  199,905  399,655  199,905  399,655 

Term Funding Facility  642,310  119,938  642,310  119,938 

Securitisation liabilities  547,949  800,361   -   - 

Payable to securitisation trusts   -   -  2,969,229  3,224,211 

Subordinated debt  49,786  49,741  49,786  49,741 

Total borrowings  1,439,950  1,369,695  3,861,230  3,793,545 



Heritage Bank Limited Financial Report 2020/21 25

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT 

Deposits, foreign currency liabilities and borrowings are initially measured at fair value of the consideration received plus any 
directly attributable transaction costs, (primarily issuance costs associated with borrowings). Subsequently, we then measure these 
financial liabilities at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

FEATURES AND PURPOSE - DEPOSITS, OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AND BORROWINGS

Deposits

The Group's deposit portfolio does not include any deposit which represents 10% or more of total liabilities.

Other financial liabilities  

Other financial liabilities primarily relate to settlement liabilities associated with prepaid card schemes we manage.

Term Funding Facility

The Group has utilised the Reserve Bank of Australia's Term Funding Facility drawing down $642.310 million as at 30 June 2021. 
The funding is fixed for three years with $230.085 million at a rate of 0.25% and $412.225 million at 0.10%, all secured by eligible 
collateral. In 2020 the Group had drawn down $119.938 million at a fixed rate of 0.25%.

Securitisation liabilities and Payable to securitisation trusts

Refer to Note 23 Transfers of Financial Assets for details of the Group's securitisation program.

Securitisation funding facility

We maintain a securitisation warehouse funding facility to assist with liquidity management. The Group has utilised $169.649 
million with $130.351 million unutilised. In 2020 the Group had utilised $223.230 million with $176.770 million unutilised. The 
utilised funding facility is included within securitisation liabilities.

Subordinated debt (Tier 2 Capital)

The subordinated debt represents $50 million of fully paid, unsecured, cumulative subordinated notes, with a maturity date of 
24 June 2030, with an option to redeem the notes on the early redemption date of 24 June 2025, subject to APRA approval. The 
subordinated debt securities pay interest quarterly in arrears. If APRA determines that a non-viability event has occurred the 
subordinated notes will be subject to write off. If a write off occurs the debt will be extinguished with a corresponding gain or loss 
taken to profit or loss.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT DISCLOSURES

14.  Financial Risk Management

Introduction

This note focuses on the financial risks (primarily market, credit and liquidity risks) associated with the use of financial instruments. 
These risks are a significant proportion of the Group's key material risks. This note provides an overview of the risk framework and 
details of the Group's policies and processes and quantitative disclosure in relation to the financial risks. Further information on risk 
and governance is provided in the Corporate Governance Statement following the financial statements.

Risk management framework

The Group is committed to managing its risks in an integrated, consistent and practical manner. The overall objective and purpose of 
risk management is to assist the Group in achieving its vision by appropriately considering risks, including opportunities, and making 
informed decisions. The Board has overall responsibility for the oversight of the Group's Risk Management Framework.

The Group's Risk Management Framework is comprised of the systems, structures, policies, processes and people supporting 
identification, measurement, monitoring, reporting, controlling or mitigating all internal and external sources of material risk. Key 
elements of the framework include the Board approved Risk Management Strategy and the Risk Appetite Statement.

The Group has adopted the three lines of defence risk management, governance and assurance model. The responsibilities for each 
line are outlined below:

Line of defence Responsibilities

First line The first line of defence is business and operational management who are 
responsible and accountable for identifying, assessing and controlling material 
risks associated with their operations.

Second line The second line of defence is the Enterprise Risk function, headed by the Chief Risk 
Officer. It supports the business by providing risk management support, monitoring, 
oversight and challenge to better ensure that risks and corresponding controls are 
effectively identified and managed.

Third line The third line of defence is the Internal Audit function which is responsible for 
providing independent assurance.

The Group's risk management policies and supporting framework enable the risks affecting the Group to be identified, analysed,  
evaluated and monitored over time.  The risk management framework is reviewed regularly to reflect relevant changes in accepted  
practice where appropriate.

Formal governance structures enable the management of risk at the Board and Executive level. The committees to achieve this include:

Board Committees Executive Committees

Risk and Compliance Committee Senior Executive Group

Audit Committee Executive Risk Management Committee

Remuneration and Nominations Committee Asset and Liability Committee

Technology Committee Credit Risk Management Committee

Senior Executive Group Investment Committee

Data, Business Intelligence and Analytics Committee

Product and Pricing Committee

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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14.  Financial Risk Management (continued)

Market risk

The Group utilises two key market risk management strategies: a Product and Pricing Committee facilitates direct (pricing) intervention 
strategies and an Asset and Liability Committee has oversight of indirect (hedging) intervention strategies.

The Group is not exposed to significant equity risk. The Group does not trade in the financial instruments it holds. The Group is exposed 
to interest rate risk, which is the risk that a financial instrument’s value will fluctuate as a result of changes in market interest rates 
and the effective weighted average interest rate on classes of financial assets and financial liabilities. 

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is managed principally via monitoring interest rate exposure gaps by reference to pre-approved limits for repricing 
bands (set by reference to the prudential capital base).  The Asset and Liability Committee has primary responsibility for ensuring 
compliance with these limits and is assisted by the monitoring activities implemented by management in its day-to-day operations.  

The management of interest rate risk against interest rate gap limits is supplemented by monitoring the sensitivity of the Group's 
financial assets and financial liabilities to interest rate movements.  The following is an analysis of the Group's sensitivity to an 
increase or decrease in market interest rates for one year, assuming no asymmetrical movement in yield curve and a constant financial 
position.

CONSOLIDATED AND PARENT Sensitivity of net interest 
income (NII)

Sensitivity of NII & cash flow 
hedge reserve

Change 2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

100 basis points 1,428 2,198 12,136 3,964

(100) basis points (8,830) (2,359) (19,890) (4,194)

Currency Risk

The Group repatriates a significant portion of the five main foreign currency floats, (US dollars, Euros, British Pounds, Canadian dollars 
and Thai Baht) to manage counterparty risk. Foreign currency swaps relating to these currencies are entered into as part of the process 
which reduces the foreign currency exposure. For these currencies a risk exists relating to the difference between the unrealised gain 
or loss on the float accounts, together with the fair value of the swaps compared to the unrealised loss or gain on the settlement 
obligation. For the remaining currencies any unrealised gains or losses on the float accounts are exactly offset by a corresponding 
unrealised loss or gain on the settlement obligation.

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from the Group's lending activities and from the financial instruments that are held for liquidity management 
purposes and hedging activities. Credit risk is defined as the possibility that a counterparty will not meet contractual obligations to 
repay in full principal or interest in a timely manner resulting in financial loss.

The framework within which credit risk is managed includes the following:

• The risk appetite for lending;

• The lending policies, procedures and delegation structures for managing credit risk; and

• Processes and reporting for monitoring credit quality and adequacy of provisions.

Maximum exposure to credit risk

For financial assets recognised in the Balance Sheet, the exposure to credit risk equals their carrying amount. For customer commitments 
the maximum exposure to credit risk is the full amount of the commitment facilities as at the reporting date (refer Note 27). The 
amounts disclosed are the maximum exposure to credit risk, before taking into account any collateral held or other credit enhancements. 
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14.  Financial Risk Management (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Credit quality by class of financial assets

Investment securities are included in the Group's investment policy where individual counterparties need to have the appropriate 
investment grading and are monitored in respect to their limits and credit ratings. The appropriate credit ratings and sector and 
counterparty limits ensure the Group is not exposed to any significant individual counterparty exposure. Unrated balances relate to 
cash on hand and the Group's cash and receivable balances held with a settlement provider.

The following tables outlines the credit ratings of the Group's exposure to counterparties excluding loans and advances to members:

CONSOLIDATED AND PARENT Neither past due nor impaired Total

2021 AAA to AA- A+ to A- BBB+ to BBB- Unrated

Assets  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Cash and cash equivalents    702,979      168,429     38   72,000    943,446 

Securitisation deposits  -      31,763  -     -     31,763 

Total    702,979      200,192     38   72,000    975,209 

CONSOLIDATED

Investment securities      1,187,652      482,410    298,555   -    1,968,617 

PARENT

Investment securities      3,412,652      482,410    298,555     196,280  4,389,897 

CONSOLIDATED AND PARENT

2020

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents      18,513      190,807      16,366   58,179    283,865 

Securitisation deposits  -      31,763  -     -        31,763 

Total      18,513      222,570      16,366   58,179    315,628 

CONSOLIDATED

Investment securities    642,686      687,340    344,201   -    1,674,227 

PARENT

Investment securities      2,867,686      687,340    344,201     198,850  4,098,077 

All assets above are within Stage 1 with no allowance for expected credit losses required, refer to note 9 for relevant accounting policy 
on expected credit losses.

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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14.  Financial Risk Management (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Credit risk - loan portfolio 

The majority of the Group's loan portfolio is secured with mortgages over relevant properties and as a result credit risk is managed 
by reference to the loan to value ratio (LVR). The following table shows the Group's LVR on its residential loan and business loan 
portfolios.

CONSOLIDATED AND PARENT

2021 2020

LVR Band

0-60% 41% 39%

61-80% 44% 45%

81-90% 12% 13%

91-100% 3% 3%

> 100% 0% 0%

100% 100%

The following is an analysis of the gross carrying value of loans and advances by overdue status in the different stages of the ECL 
model as defined in Note 9. The calculation of arrears is consistent with the regulatory definition in APS 220 Credit Quality.
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14.  Financial Risk Management (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

CONSOLIDATED AND PARENT

2021
Stage 1 
$’000

Stage 2 
$’000

Stage 3 
$’000

Total 
$’000

Loans and advances to members  
(excluding loan origination costs)

Residential loans

Current    8,238,715      93,077        7 8,331,799

Overdue less than or equal to 30 days    83,874      22,081    -   105,955

Overdue 31 - 60 days -        31,360    -   31,360

Overdue 61 - 90 days -        21,044    -   21,044

Overdue greater than 90 days -     -     38,461      38,461 

Total    8,322,589    167,562   38,468  8,528,619 

Business loans

Current 169,159       836    -   169,995

Overdue less than or equal to 30 days      5,935   -      -      5,935 

Overdue 31 - 60 days -      2,678    -      2,678 

Overdue 61 - 90 days -         698    -         698 

Overdue greater than 90 days  -     -      757       757 

Total      175,094    4,212    757    180,063 

Personal loans

Current      128,750       891    191 129,832

Overdue less than or equal to 30 days      1,624       510      47    2,181 

Overdue 31 - 60 days    -         809        6       815 

Overdue 61 - 90 days    -         367      15       382 

Overdue greater than 90 days    -    -       1,167    1,167 

Total      130,374    2,577     1,426    134,377 

Credit cards

Current    62,576    1,106    101 63,783

Overdue less than or equal to 30 days      2,683       482    370    3,535 

Overdue 31 - 60 days    -         275    198       473 

Overdue 61 - 90 days    -       82    113       195 

Overdue greater than 90 days    -    -      293       293 

Total    65,259    1,945     1,075      68,279 

Total gross loans and advances    8,693,316    176,296   41,726  8,911,338 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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14.  Financial Risk Management (continued)

Credit risk (continued)
CONSOLIDATED AND PARENT

2020 Stage 1 
$’000

Stage 2 
$’000

Stage 3 
$’000

Total 
$’000

Loans and advances to members  
(excluding loan origination costs)

Residential loans

Current    7,601,110    543,588    449 8,145,147

Overdue less than or equal to 30 days    56,307      23,989      58 80,354

Overdue 31 - 60 days       -      9,585      -   9,585

Overdue 61 - 90 days       -        11,510      -   11,510

Overdue greater than 90 days       -       -     49,946      49,946 

Total    7,657,417    588,672   50,453  8,296,542 

Business loans

Current      134,059      18,123    273 152,455

Overdue less than or equal to 30 days     619    1,775      -      2,394 

Overdue 31 - 60 days       -         634      -         634 

Overdue 61 - 90 days       -         953      -         953 

Overdue greater than 90 days       -       -        -       -   

Total      134,678      21,485    273    156,436 

Personal loans

Current      122,399    6,352    249 129,000

Overdue less than or equal to 30 days      1,556       645      71    2,272 

Overdue 31 - 60 days       -         418      34       452 

Overdue 61 - 90 days       -         510      48       558 

Overdue greater than 90 days       -       -       1,310    1,310 

Total      123,955    7,925     1,712    133,592 

Credit cards

Current    59,341    2,102      42 61,485

Overdue less than or equal to 30 days      2,474       656    359    3,489 

Overdue 31 - 60 days       -         384    195       579 

Overdue 61 - 90 days       -         140    100       240 

Overdue greater than 90 days       -       -      644       644 

Total    61,815    3,282     1,340      66,437 

Total gross loans and advances    7,977,865    621,364   53,778  8,653,007 

The COVID-19 repayment deferral group of loans ($540.001 million in total as at 30 June 2020), is included within Stage 2 loans 
and is classified as 'Current'. This was consistent with the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority's temporary approach of not 
needing to treat the repayment deferral period as a period of arrears for capital adequacy and reporting purposes. As at 30 June 
2021 there was $11.209 million of loans in hardship arrangements that had previously formed part of the COVID-19 repayment 
deferral group.
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14.  Financial Risk Management (continued)

Credit risk (continued)
Non-performing loans - impaired

The following table shows an estimate of the fair value of collateral held against impaired assets. Collateral is initially valued at the 
loan establishment date and is reassessed when a loan is deemed to be impaired.

CONSOLIDATED AND PARENT

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

Gross impaired loans1    10,038      15,646 

Provision for impairment (4,613) (4,908)

Net impaired loans    5,425      10,738 

Collateral held against impaired loans    10,439      13,304 

1 Gross impaired loans includes unsecured loans with a prescribed provision (refer to Note 9).

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the inability to access sufficient funds, both anticipated and unforeseen, which may lead to the Group being unable to 
meet its cash flow and funding obligations as they arise.

The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as much as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its 
liabilities when due, under both normal or stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s 
reputation.   

The Group has a Liquidity Management Policy that is supervised by the Chief Executive Officer and administered by the Chief Financial 
Officer, the Financial Controller and the Treasurer with oversight from the Enterprise Risk function. To ensure liquidity requirements are 
met, the Group maintains minimum liquidity holdings relative to its balance sheet liabilities including irrevocable commitments but 
excluding eligible capital. The minimum liquidity holdings comprise high quality liquid assets held within a Liquid Assets Portfolio. 

The daily liquidity position is monitored by Treasury and regular liquidity stress testing is conducted under a variety of scenarios 
covering both normal and more adverse market conditions.  A daily report calculates and disseminates the daily liquidity position to 
management. Liquidity forecasts are generated weekly and summary reports are provided to the Asset & Liability Committee monthly.

The tables below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities, commitments and contingencies. The amounts 
disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. The derivatives have been calculated using existing contractual terms and rates 
prevailing at 30 June 2021.
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14.  Financial Risk Management (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

CONSOLIDATED AND PARENT

2021
Carrying 
amount

Gross nominal 
outflow

Up to 1 year 1 - 5 years Over 5 years

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Liabilities

Deposits      9,578,354    9,578,470  9,383,890     194,580   -   

Other financial liabilities    184,102      184,102    184,102   -     -   

Lease liability      35,805    37,354      11,302   22,302    3,750 

Other payables      21,061    21,061      21,061   -     -   

Derivatives     10      6,032    6,032   -     -   

Total      9,819,332    9,827,019  9,606,387     216,882    3,750 

Off balance sheet positions

Credit related commitments      1,981,975    1,981,975  1,981,975   -     -   

Financial guarantees    5,754      5,754    5,754   -     -   

Total      1,987,729    1,987,729  1,987,729   -     -   

CONSOLIDATED

Borrowings      1,439,950    1,467,634    255,586  1,123,052      88,996 

PARENT

Borrowings      3,861,230    3,958,526    269,289  1,185,674  2,503,563 
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14.  Financial Risk Management (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

CONSOLIDATED AND PARENT

2020
Carrying 
amount

Gross nominal 
outflow

Up to 1 year 1 - 5 years Over 5 years

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Liabilities

Deposits    8,442,180  8,461,278  8,335,583   125,695   - 

Other financial liabilities  226,390    226,390  226,390    -   - 

Lease liability    42,205  44,423    11,640   27,099  5,684 

Other payables    18,736  18,736    18,736    -   - 

Derivatives  4,374    1,492   996  496   - 

Total    8,733,885  8,752,319  8,593,345   153,290  5,684 

Off balance sheet positions

Credit related commitments    1,611,834  1,611,834  1,611,834    -   - 

Financial guarantees  5,651    5,651  5,651    -   - 

Total    1,617,485  1,617,485  1,617,485    -   - 

CONSOLIDATED

Borrowings    1,369,695  1,411,551  612,355   671,419  127,777 

PARENT

Borrowings    3,793,545  3,930,544  654,119   734,081  2,542,344 
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15.  Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

CONSOLIDATED AND PARENT Carrying 
amount

Fair value

2021 $'000 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

       

Financial assets measured at fair value     

Foreign currency swaps  1,944   -   1,944   -  1,944 

Interest rate swaps  1,337   -   1,337   -  1,337 

Total  3,281   -   3,281   -  3,281 

       

Financial assets not measured at fair value     

Net loans and advances   8,905,650   -  -   8,940,270  8,940,270 

Total   8,905,650   -  -   8,940,270  8,940,270 

       

Financial liabilities measured at fair value     

Foreign currency swaps   10   -   10    10 

Total   10   -   10   -   10 

       

CONSOLIDATED 

Financial assets not measured at fair value     

Investment securities   1,968,617   -  1,972,734   -  1,972,734 

Total   1,968,617   -  1,972,734   -  1,972,734 

       

Financial liabilities not measured at fair value     

Borrowings   1,439,950   -  1,435,651   -  1,435,651 

Total   1,439,950   -  1,435,651   -  1,435,651 

       

PARENT

Financial assets not measured at fair value     

Investment securities   4,389,897   -  4,394,014   -  4,394,014 

Total   4,389,897   -  4,394,014   -  4,394,014 

       

Financial liabilities not measured at fair value     

Borrowings   3,861,230   -  3,856,931   -  3,856,931 

Total   3,861,230   -  3,856,931   -  3,856,931 
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15.  Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (continued)

CONSOLIDATED AND PARENT Carrying 
amount

Fair value

2020 $'000 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

       

Financial assets measured at fair value

Foreign currency swaps   240   -   240   -   240 

Total   240   -   240   -   240 

Financial assets not measured at fair value

Net loans and advances   8,642,413   -  -   8,690,959  8,690,959 

Total   8,642,413   -  -   8,690,959  8,690,959 

Financial liabilities measured at fair value

Interest rate swaps   778   -   778   -   778 

Foreign currency swaps  3,596   -   3,596   -  3,596 

Total  4,374   -   4,374   -  4,374 

CONSOLIDATED 

Financial assets not measured at fair value

Investment securities   1,674,227   -  1,680,117   -  1,680,117 

Total   1,674,227   -  1,680,117   -  1,680,117 

Financial liabilities not measured at fair value

Borrowings   1,369,695   -  1,370,200   -  1,370,200 

Total   1,369,695   -  1,370,200   -  1,370,200 

PARENT

Financial assets not measured at fair value

Investment securities   4,098,077   -  4,103,967   -  4,103,967 

Total   4,098,077   -  4,103,967   -  4,103,967 

Financial liabilities not measured at fair value

Borrowings   3,793,545   -  3,794,050   -  3,794,050 

Total   3,793,545   -  3,794,050   -  3,794,050 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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15.  Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (continued)

The following assets and liabilities have not been included in the table above as their carrying amount is a reasonable approximation 
of fair value:

Cash and cash equivalents Other financial liabilities
Receivables Accounts payable
Deposits

Fair value hierarchy

The Group uses a fair value hierarchy as required by AASB 13 Fair value measurement to categorise assets and liabilities carried at fair 
value. The hierarchy reflects the observability of inputs used to measure the fair value:

• Level 1 - valuations based on quoted prices in active markets;

•  Level 2 - valuations using inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 
directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices); and

• Level 3 - valuations where significant unobservable inputs are used to measure the fair value of the asset or liability.

Transfer between levels are deemed to have occurred at the beginning of the reporting period in which instruments are transferred. 
There were no transfers between levels during the year for the Group or Parent.
 

VALUATION TECHNIQUES USED TO DETERMINE FAIR VALUE

The objective of valuation approach is to arrive at a fair value measurement that reflects the price that would be received to sell the 
asset or paid to transfer the liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

The following methods and assumptions are used to determine the net fair values of financial assets and liabilities.

Interest rate and foreign currency swaps

The Group enters into swaps with various counterparties who have investment grade credit ratings. The fair value is calculated as the 
present value of the estimated future interest cash flows based on observable yield curves. Other inputs include the credit quality of 
counterparties and foreign exchange spot and forward rates. 

Investment securities

The fair value for the investment securities is based on the current quoted market price. For those assets where there is no quoted 
price the fair value is calculated as the present value of the estimated future interest cash flows based on observable yield curves.

Net loans and advances

The fair value is determined by adjusting the fixed rate loan portfolio for current market rates as at balance date. For variable rate 
loans, the carrying amount is a reasonable estimate of the net fair value. The net fair value for fixed rate loans was calculated 
utilising discounted cash flow models based on the maturity of the loans. The discount rates applied were based on the current 
benchmark rate offered for the average remaining term of the portfolio as at 30 June 2021. 

Where observable market transactions are not available to estimate the fair value of loans, the fair value is estimated using valuation 
models such as discounted cash flow techniques. A counterparty default risk has also been assessed in determining the fair value.

Term debt, Term Funding Facility and Securitisation liabilities

The fair value is determined by a discounted cash flow model based on a current yield curve appropriate for the remaining term  
to maturity.

Subordinated debt

The fair value is determined by a quoted market price. The market is not considered 'active' and as such is categorised as Level 2.

KEY JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES
Judgment is required when we select the valuation models to determine fair values. Where the fair values of the financial assets 
and financial liabilities cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined using a variety of valuation models. The inputs 
to these models are derived from observable market data where possible. Where unobservable market data is used more judgment 
is required and generally we derive unobservable inputs from other relevant market data where available.
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CONSOLIDATED AND PARENT

Freehold land
Heritage Plaza 

building
Right of use 

assets
Plant and 
equipment

Total

16.  Property, Plant and Equipment $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

       

At 30 June 2021       

At Cost / Fair Value   2,500  13,857  66,052  57,191  139,600 

Accumulated depreciation    - (3,206) (35,225) (44,819) (83,250)

Total property plant and equipment   2,500  10,651  30,827  12,372  56,350 

       

Year ended 30 June 2021       

Carrying amount at beginning of financial year  2,500  11,300  38,002  14,609  66,411 

Additions    -   84  7,649  3,670  11,403 

Disposals    -   - (3,046) (75) (3,121)

Depreciation charge for the year    - (733) (11,778) (5,832) (18,343)

Carrying amount at end of financial year   2,500  10,651  30,827  12,372  56,350 

       
At 30 June 2020

At Cost / Fair Value  2,500  13,773  73,150  55,093  144,516 

Accumulated depreciation   - (2,473) (35,148) (40,484) (78,105)

Total property plant and equipment   2,500  11,300  38,002  14,609  66,411 

Year ended 30 June 2020

Carrying amount at beginning of financial year  2,500  12,820   -  18,599  33,919 

Recognition of right of use assets on initial 
application of AASB 16    -   -  36,914   -  36,914 

Adjusted carrying amount at 1 July 2019  2,500  12,820  36,914  18,599  70,833 

Revaluation   - (644)   -   - (644)

Additions   -   43  13,272  4,310  17,625 

Disposals   -   -   - (1,825) (1,825)

Depreciation charge for the year   - (919) (12,184) (6,475) (19,578)

Carrying amount at end of financial year   2,500  11,300  38,002  14,609  66,411 
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16.  Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT

Land and buildings

We measure land and buildings at fair value less accumulated depreciation on buildings.  Valuations are performed with sufficient 
frequency to ensure that the fair value does not differ materially from its carrying amount. The revalued land and buildings consist of 
the Heritage Plaza and the associated freehold land.  The latest independent valuation was performed in April 2020.  The valuation 
was performed by CBRE Valuations Pty Limited. 

The fair value of land and building was determined by using the capitalisation approach. In determining the valuation a capitalisation 
rate of 8.5% was applied to the net market rentals. The fair value hierarchy classification of land and buildings is level 3.

Right of use assets

We identify leases under AASB 16 that provide the right to control the use of an identified asset for a specified time. For these 
leases, the Group is required to recognise on balance sheet a right of use (ROU) asset, representing the right to use the underlying 
asset, and a lease liability, representing the future lease payment obligations. ROU assets primarily include branch premises, offices 
and ATMs.

The ROU asset is initially measured at cost which comprises the initial measurement of the lease liability. The ROU asset is 
subsequently measured using the cost model, being cost less depreciation and any impairment losses.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of lease payments outstanding at commencement date, discounted using 
the Group's incremental borrowing rate. The lease liability is subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. Refer to note 18 for the carrying amount of the lease liability.

Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. Plant and equipment 
primarily includes office and branch equipment, furniture and fittings.

Depreciation

All property, plant and equipment other than land are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the  
assets as follows:

• Building - 40 years

• Leasehold improvements (included within plant and equipment) - the lease term

• Plant and equipment - 3 to 8 years

Impairment

The carrying values of plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment at each reporting date with recoverable amounts being 
estimated when changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may be impaired. An impairment loss exists when the carrying 
value of an asset exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. The asset in then written down to its recoverable amount.

KEY JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES

Valuation of land and buildings

Judgment is required in assessing the key inputs used in the valuation of the land and buildings. Inputs include rental income, 
capitalisation rate, capital expenditure and outgoings. The selection of the valuation technique also requires judgment and is 
supported by the results of alternate valuation techniques.

Leases

Accounting for leases under AASB 16 requires management to make certain key judgments. These include identifying arrangements 
that contain a lease, the determination of lease terms and the assumed borrowing rate.
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NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

CONSOLIDATED AND PARENT

17.  Intangibles and Prepaid Costs
2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

       
At Cost  38,989  35,479 

Accumulated amortisation (23,670) (17,665)

Total intangibles      15,319  17,814 
 

Balances comprise the following items:  
       
Capitalised software  13,364  16,544 

Prepaid Software as a Service (SaaS) implementation costs  1,955  1,270 

      15,319  17,814 
 

Carrying amount at beginning of financial year  17,814  20,024 

Additions  3,865  3,393 

Disposals - - 

Amortisation charge for the year (6,360) (5,603)

Carrying amount at end of financial year     15,319  17,814 

RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT

Capitalised software

Intangibles are composed of capitalised software assets. Capitalised software includes 'off the shelf' software and external costs 
incurred in building software and computer systems. We measure capitalised software initially at cost and then subsequently, carried 
at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. Capitalised software is amortised over its expected 
useful life of between three and five years.

Prepaid SaaS implementation costs

SaaS arrangements are service contracts providing the Group with the right to access the cloud provider's application software over 
the contract period. Implementation costs relating to the SaaS arrangements generally include customisation and configuration of the 
software. Where the SaaS provider provides the implementation services and these are not distinct from the SaaS access, the costs 
are recognised as a prepayment and expensed over the contract term. Where the services are distinct, or provided by a third party the 
costs are expensed as incurred. These costs are included within Licencing and other software costs in the Income Statement.

KEY JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES

Capitalised software

At each reporting date, capitalised software is assessed for indicators of impairment  and, when such indicators are identified, 
an impairment assessment is performed. In the event that the carrying amount is determined to be greater than its recoverable 
amount, the carrying amount of the asset is written down.

Prepaid SaaS implementation costs

Judgment is applied when we determine whether the implementation services provided by the SaaS arrangement supplier are 
distinct or not from the underlying use of the SaaS application software.

Useful Lives

Expected useful lives of intangible assets are assessed on an annual basis. The assessment requires management judgment 
with a number of factors influencing the expected life such as business strategy, regulatory and compliance changes and pace 
of technological change. Assessing what components of a software project meet the criteria for capitalisation also requires 
management judgment.

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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NON-FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

CONSOLIDATED AND PARENT

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

18.  Accounts Payable and Other Liabilities  
       

Sundry creditors and other payables    21,061    18,736 

Lease liability    35,805    42,205 

Accounts Payable and Other Liabilities       56,866    60,941 

RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT

Sundry creditors and other payables
Sundry creditors and other payables includes amounts owed to creditors and amounts held within operational clearing account 
balances. The balance includes donation of funds owed to the Heritage Bank Charitable Foundation of $1,000,000  
(2020: $500,000).  These amounts are recognised when incurred and we measure these at amortised cost.

Lease liability
The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Further information is included in Note 16 
Property, Plant and Equipment.

CONSOLIDATED AND PARENT

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

19.  Other Provisions
       

Employee benefits    15,429    17,092 

Directors' retiring allowance   954   970 

Customer remediation    3,421    1,650 

Other    3,952    3,022 

Other Provisions       23,756    22,734 
 

Maturity analysis  

Not longer than 12 months    18,332    17,745 

Longer than 12 months    5,424    4,989 

Total       23,756    22,734 

RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT
The Group recognises provisions when there is a present obligation arising from a past event, an outflow of economic resources is 
probable, and the amount of the provision can be measured reliably.

Employee benefits
Employee benefits includes annual leave, long service leave and other employee benefit related provisions. Refer to Note 3 
Operating Expenses for recognition and measurement details.

Directors' retiring allowance
The Directors' retiring allowance ceased effective 1 July 2017. The balances at 30 June 2017 however, will be indexed for CPI until 
the date of the Directors' retirement.

Customer remediation
Customer remediation includes provisions for expected refunds to customers and remediation project costs.

Other
Other provisions include make good provisions associated with leased premises.
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MEMBERS' FUNDS

CONSOLIDATED AND PARENT

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

20.  Reserves  

     

Asset revaluation reserve 5,064 5,064 

Cash flow hedge reserve 935 (546)

Total reserves  5,999 4,518 

RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT

Asset revaluation reserve

The asset revaluation reserve is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of land and the Heritage Plaza 
building as described in Note 16 Property, Plant and Equipment.

Cash flow hedge reserve

The cash flow hedge reserve is used to record gains or losses on a hedging instrument in a cash flow hedge reserve that are 
recognised directly in other comprehensive income, as described in Note 10 Derivatives. Amounts are reclassified to profit or loss 
when the associated hedged transaction affects profit or loss.

21. Capital Management

Capital adequacy is calculated in accordance with the Prudential Standards issued by APRA. APRA has set minimum regulatory  
capital requirements under the Basel III Framework. During the year, the Group has complied in full with its externally imposed  
capital requirements.

The Group’s management of capital is supervised by the Chief Executive Officer and administered by the Chief Financial Officer,  
the Financial Controller, the Treasurer and the Chief Risk Officer.  Other objectives include making efficient use of capital in the pursuit  
of strategic objectives. The capital adequacy ratio is monitored on a monthly basis.
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MEMBERS' FUNDS

21.  Capital Management (continued)

Capital Adequacy

The following table provides details of the Group’s capital adequacy ratios as at 30 June:

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

Qualifying capital  

 

Tier 1 capital  

Retained earnings and other comprehensive income      651,553      608,627 

Asset revaluation reserve      5,064      5,064 

Prudential adjustment  (8,582) (10,824)

Gross Common Equity Tier 1 capital      648,035      602,867 

Deductions  (41,781) (46,323)

Total Tier 1 capital      606,254      556,544 

Tier 2 capital  

Subordinated debt      50,000      50,000 

General reserve for credit losses       21,146      25,438 

Total Tier 2 capital      71,146      75,438 

Total qualifying capital       677,400      631,982 

 

Risk weighted assets1     4,742,354    4,262,358 

 

Tier 1 capital ratio 12.79% 13.06%

Total capital ratio  14.28% 14.83%

1 The Group has identified a pool of mortgages in Victoria registered between January 2018 and January 2021 (total balances of $502.756 million at 
30 June 2021) that are currently ineligible for treatment as standard eligible mortgages for prudential reporting purposes. The Group is undertaking 
a remediation process to rectify this issue that will enable a reduced risk weighting to apply going forward. The costs to rectify this matter have been 
provided for within the customer remediation provision, refer Note 19.

Full details of regulatory capital is provided on the Heritage website at heritage.com.au/about/prudential-information
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CONSOLIDATION AND PRESENTATION

22.  Structured and Other Entities

Structured Entities
Structured Entities are generally established to achieve narrow and well defined objectives. The Group has established structured 
entities to securitise member loans and advances that it has originated, in order to diversify sources of funding for liquidity 
management. Some of the transactions involve transfers to an internal securitisation vehicle used to create assets that are eligible for 
repurchase under agreements with the Reserve Bank of Australia. Refer to Note 23 for further details.
 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Structured Entities - Consolidation Assessment

The structured entities (SEs) are assessed on three criteria to determine whether the Group controls the SEs and are therefore 
required to be consolidated. The criteria includes:

• power over the relevant activities (being those that significantly affect the entity's returns);
• exposure to variable returns of the entity; and
• the ability to use its power over the entity to affect the Group's returns.

Heritage is exposed to variable returns from its involvement with the SEs and has the ability to affect those returns through its 
power over the SE activities. The SEs are therefore consolidated by the Group.

Structured Entities - Derecognition Assessment

The SEs are assessed to determine whether Heritage (Parent) should recognise the financial assets and liabilities of the SE or 
whether they should be derecognised and not included as part of the Parent reporting. 

Heritage retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of the SEs, accordingly the assets and liabilities of the SEs are recognised 
within the Parent reporting.

The following is a list of the SEs:

HBS Trust No. 4 HBS Trust 2011-1 (closed 16 November 2020)
HBS Trust No. 5 (closed 18 December 2020) HBS Trust 2014-1
HBS Trust 2008-1R HBS Trust 2017-1

Transactions with the Structured Entities

The following table provides the total amount of transactions that were entered into by the Parent with the SEs for the relevant 
financial year. These transactions were carried out under standard commercial terms.

PARENT

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

Management fee 604 402 

Servicer fee 10,544 7,231 

Net interest income  51,575 28,808 

Other Entities

A related entity to the Group is the Heritage Bank Charitable Foundation (the Foundation). The Foundation's principal activities are the 
provision of distributions to other entities or persons to advance or promote a charitable purpose. The Foundation deposits funds with 
the Group on standard terms and conditions. During the year the Group contributed $236,000 (2020: $99,000) towards the running 
costs of the Foundation.
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CONSOLIDATION AND PRESENTATION

22.  Structured and Other Entities (continued)

Other Entities (continued)
 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Other Entities - Consolidation Assessment

Heritage does not meet all the conditions of control and accordingly the Foundation is not required to be consolidated.

23.  Transfers of Financial Assets

The Group enters into transactions that result in the transfer of financial assets, primarily loans and advances to members and debt 
securities. These transactions do not result in the derecognition of the transferred assets from the Group's balance sheet, because 
the Group retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership.

FEATURES AND PURPOSE

Securitisation

The Group conducts a securitisation program under an arrangement where mortgage loans equitably assigned to a separate legal 
entity (SE) are converted to debt securities which are purchased by investors. The holders of the issued debt securities have full 
recourse to the pool of mortgages which have been securitised and the Group cannot otherwise pledge or dispose of the transferred 
assets. In some instances the Group is also the holder of the securitised notes, refer table below.

Repurchase agreements

The Group enters into repurchase agreements involving the sale of interest-bearing securities and simultaneously agrees to buy 
them back at a pre-agreed price on a future date. The interest-bearing securities transferred are included in 'Investment securities'. 
The obligation to repurchase is included in 'Deposits'.

Term Funding Facility

The Group's drawdown of the TFF is performed by entering into long term repurchase agreements with the RBA (refer to 
Repurchase agreements above). The debt securities transferred as collateral for the borrowing include a portion of the Group's 
internal investments in securitised notes issued by its SEs1. The obligation to repurchase is included in 'Borrowings' under 'Term 
Funding Facility'.
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23.  Transfers of Financial Assets (continued)

The table below sets out the carrying amounts of financial assets transferred that do not qualify for derecognition and associated 
liabilities.

CONSOLIDATED PARENT

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

2021 
$’000

2020 
$'000

       
Securitisation:   

  
Carrying amount of transferred assets:   

Loans and advances to members        550,593       803,738       2,971,873      3,227,588 

  

Carrying amount of associated liabilities:   

Securitisation liabilities       547,949       800,361 - - 

 Amounts payable from Heritage to the SEs1 - -       2,969,229      3,224,211 

Total        547,949       800,361       2,969,229      3,224,211 
  

Fair value of transferred assets       552,818       810,925       2,974,098      3,229,125 

Fair value of associated liabilities       545,053       799,896       2,966,333      3,218,096 

Net position            7,765         11,029              7,765          11,029 

Repurchase agreements:   
  

Carrying amount of transferred assets  -       100,809 -        100,809 

Carrying amount of associated liabilities -       100,038 -        100,038 
       
Term Funding Facility:   

  
Carrying amount of transferred assets        944,500       151,900          944,500        151,900 

Carrying amount of associated liabilities        642,310       119,938          642,310        119,938 

1  Certain SEs issue notes internally to the Parent to facilitate repurchase activities with the Reserve Bank of Australia. The gross 
amount of securitised notes issued is $2.969 billion, with $2.421 billion internally issued to the Parent.

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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CONSOLIDATION AND PRESENTATION

24.  Offsetting

We offset financial assets and financial liabilities on the balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the 
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Master netting arrangements

Derivative financial instruments, (refer to note 10) transacted with counterparties are subject to an International Swaps and Derivatives 
Association (ISDA) master agreement. Repurchase agreements, (refer to note 23) which involve a transfer/receipt of collateral, are also 
subject to a global master repurchase agreement. Under the terms of these arrangements, only where certain credit events occur (such 
as default), the net position owing/receivable to a single counterparty in the same currency will be taken as owing and all the relevant 
arrangements terminated. As the Group does not presently have a legally enforceable right to offset, derivative assets and derivative 
liabilities and repurchase agreement balances have not been offset in the balance sheets and are presented on a gross basis.

If there was a legally enforceable right of offset for the Group’s derivatives and repurchase agreements, there would be a reduction 
in both the derivative assets and derivative liabilities of the Group by $0.01 million as at 30 June 2021 (2020: $0.235 million), and a 
reduction in repurchase agreement balances of the Group (including the Term Funding Facility) to nil (2020: nil).

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

25.  Related Party Transactions

Key Management Personnel - Remuneration

Key Management Personnel (KMP) are defined as all directors of the Group and those personnel with a key responsibility for the 
strategic direction and management of the Group. Remuneration of KMP is as follows:

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

    
Short-term benefits 5,609    5,600 

Long-term benefits    102   54 

Post-employment benefits    313   336 

Total     6,024    5,990 

Key Management Personnel - Transactions

The loan and savings accounts between the Group and key management personnel are transactions that are at arms length. Interest 
earned on loan accounts and interest expense incurred on deposits is at the same rates available to members. Balances for the key 
management personnel include the following:

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

 
Loan accounts     5,048    3,380 

Deposits     5,246    5,180 
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OTHER DISCLOSURES
CONSOLIDATED PARENT

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

26.  Cash Flow Statement Reconciliation   

  

Reconciliation of profit for the year to net cash flows from 
operating activities:

  

  

Operating profit after tax  44,810  36,269   44,810  36,269 

  

Non cash items   

Impairment losses on loans (2,845)  12,922 (2,845)  12,922 

Defined benefit fund (267)   139 (267)   139 

Depreciation  7,143  7,394   7,143  7,394 

Depreciation - right of use assets  11,472  12,184   11,472  12,184 

Lease liability - interest expense  566   816  566   816 

Amortisation  6,360  5,897   6,360  5,897 

Provision for employee benefits (1,663)   152 (1,663)   152 

  

Changes in assets   

Loss from sale of property, plant and equipment  13   51  13   51 

Accrued interest on investments (5,451)  1,783 (5,451)  1,783 

Loans and receivables and other receivables (260,392) (204,574) (260,392) (204,574)

Sundry debtors  2,470 (1,349)   2,470 (1,349)

Prepayments (1,630) (899) (1,630) (899)

Swap assets (1,704)   157 (1,704)   157 

Deferred tax assets  2,763 (15,642)   2,763 (15,642)

  

Changes in liabilities   

Deposits and short term borrowings   1,098,842  562,324  1,098,842  562,324 

Current tax liabilities  1,342   186   1,342   186 

Transaction costs - subordinated debt and term debt  15   531  15   531 

Lease liability (12,038) (11,502) (12,038) (11,502)

Sundry creditors (486) (16,488) (486) (16,488)

Swap liabilities (3,586)  1,391 (3,586)  1,391 

Directors' retiring allowance (16) (401) (16) (401)

Deferred tax liabilities   -  11,736  -  11,736 

Net cash flows from operating activities  885,718  403,077   885,718  403,077 
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OTHER DISCLOSURES
CONSOLIDATED PARENT

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

27.  Contingent Liabilities and Commitments   
  

Credit related commitments   
  

Approved but undrawn loans and available redraw limits   1,981,975  1,611,834  1,981,975  1,611,834 

RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT
      
In the normal course of business the Group enters into various types of contracts that give rise to contingent or future obligations.  
These contracts generally relate to the financial needs of customers.  The Group uses the same credit policies and assessment 
criteria in making commitments and conditional obligations for off-balance sheet risks as it does for on-balance sheet loan assets.  
The Group holds collateral supporting these commitments where it is deemed necessary.

CONSOLIDATED AND PARENT

2021 
$’000

2020 
$’000

28.  Remuneration of Auditor  
    
KPMG Australia

Audit or review of the financial report of the Group 364 364 

Regulatory and assurance services 118 118 

Taxation services 78 262 

Other - 32 

Total 560 776 

29.  Events Since the End of the Financial Year

Heritage announced on 18 August 2021 that it has entered into a non-binding Heads of Agreement with People's Choice Credit 
Union to explore a merger between the two entities. The merger will be subject to due diligence, regulatory approvals and approval 
by the members through a vote. The Boards of both organisations believe that the merger is in the best interests of members, as it 
will provide members benefits through increased scale, including access to a wider range of products and services, and an enhanced 
digital experience. Should plans proceed, it is estimated that the merger will occur on or before 1 July 2022.

No other matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which will affect the operating results or state of 
affairs of the Group in subsequent years.
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In accordance with a resolution of the directors of Heritage Bank Limited, we state that: 

In the opinion of the directors: 

(a)  the financial statements and notes of Heritage Bank Limited are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

 (i)  giving a true and fair view of Heritage Bank Limited’s financial position as at 30 June 2021 and of its performance for the year 
ended on that date; and

 (ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and Corporations Regulations 2001;  and

(b)  the financial statements also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board;  and

(c)  there are reasonable grounds to believe that Heritage Bank Limited will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and 
payable.

On behalf of the Board

TOOWOOMBA KERRY J. BETROS DENNIS P. CAMPBELL 
26 August 2021 Chairman Deputy Chairman

Directors’ Declaration
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firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights 
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KPMG global organisation. Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 

Lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration under 

Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 

To the Directors of Heritage Bank Limited 

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, in relation to the audit of Heritage Bank Limited 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2021 there have been: 

i. no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the 
Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 

ii. no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

 

  

  

KPMG Jillian Richards 
Partner 

 Brisbane 
26 August 2021 
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Lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration under 

Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 

To the Directors of Heritage Bank Limited 

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, in relation to the audit of Heritage Bank Limited 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2021 there have been: 

i. no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the 
Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 

ii. no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

 

  

  

KPMG Jillian Richards 
Partner 

 Brisbane 
26 August 2021 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
 

To the Members of Heritage Bank Limited 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated Financial 
Report of Heritage Bank Limited (the Group 
Financial Report). We have also audited the 
Financial Report of Heritage Bank Limited (the 
Company Financial Report). 

In our opinion, each of the accompanying Group 
Financial Report and the Company Financial 
Report is in accordance with the Corporations Act 
2001, including:  

• giving a true and fair view of the Group’s and 
the Company’s financial position as at 30 
June 2021 and of its financial performance for 
the year ended on that date; and 

• complying with Australian Accounting 
Standards and the Corporations Regulations 
2001. 

The respective Financial Reports of the Group 
and the Company comprise:  

• Balance Sheets as at 30 June 2021; 

• Income Statements, Statements of 
Comprehensive Income, Statements of 
Changes in Members’ Funds, and Cash Flow 
Statements for the year then ended; 

• Notes including a summary of significant 
accounting policies; 

• Directors’ Declaration. 

The Group consists of Heritage Bank Limited (the 
Company) and the entities it controlled at the 
year-end or from time to time during the financial 
year. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions. 

Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the 
audits of the Financial Reports section of our report.  

We are independent of the Group and the Company in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and 
the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code 
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant 
to our audit of the Financial Report in Australia. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the Code. 

Other Information 

Other Information is financial and non-financial information in Heritage Bank Limited’s annual reporting 
which is provided in addition to the Financial Reports and the Auditor’s Report. The Directors are 
responsible for the Other Information. The Other Information we obtained prior to the date of this 
Auditor’s Report was the Directors’ Report. 

Our opinion on the Financial Reports does not cover the Other Information and, accordingly, we do not 
express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the Financial Reports, our responsibility is to read the Other Information. 
In doing so, we consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the Financial 
Reports or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

We are required to report if we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other Information, 
and based on the work we have performed on the Other Information that we obtained prior to the date 
of this Auditor’s Report we have nothing to report. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
 

To the Members of Heritage Bank Limited 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated Financial 
Report of Heritage Bank Limited (the Group 
Financial Report). We have also audited the 
Financial Report of Heritage Bank Limited (the 
Company Financial Report). 

In our opinion, each of the accompanying Group 
Financial Report and the Company Financial 
Report is in accordance with the Corporations Act 
2001, including:  

• giving a true and fair view of the Group’s and 
the Company’s financial position as at 30 
June 2021 and of its financial performance for 
the year ended on that date; and 

• complying with Australian Accounting 
Standards and the Corporations Regulations 
2001. 

The respective Financial Reports of the Group 
and the Company comprise:  

• Balance Sheets as at 30 June 2021; 

• Income Statements, Statements of 
Comprehensive Income, Statements of 
Changes in Members’ Funds, and Cash Flow 
Statements for the year then ended; 

• Notes including a summary of significant 
accounting policies; 

• Directors’ Declaration. 

The Group consists of Heritage Bank Limited (the 
Company) and the entities it controlled at the 
year-end or from time to time during the financial 
year. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions. 

Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the 
audits of the Financial Reports section of our report.  

We are independent of the Group and the Company in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and 
the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code 
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant 
to our audit of the Financial Report in Australia. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the Code. 

Other Information 

Other Information is financial and non-financial information in Heritage Bank Limited’s annual reporting 
which is provided in addition to the Financial Reports and the Auditor’s Report. The Directors are 
responsible for the Other Information. The Other Information we obtained prior to the date of this 
Auditor’s Report was the Directors’ Report. 

Our opinion on the Financial Reports does not cover the Other Information and, accordingly, we do not 
express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the Financial Reports, our responsibility is to read the Other Information. 
In doing so, we consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the Financial 
Reports or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

We are required to report if we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other Information, 
and based on the work we have performed on the Other Information that we obtained prior to the date 
of this Auditor’s Report we have nothing to report. 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
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Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report 

The Directors are responsible for: 

• preparing the Financial Reports that give a true and fair view in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001; 

• implementing necessary internal control to enable the preparation of a Financial Reports that give a 
true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and  

• assessing the Group and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and whether the use 
of the going concern basis of accounting is appropriate. This includes disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless they either 
intend to liquidate the Group and the Company or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative 
but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Report 

Our objective is: 

• to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Financial Reports as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and  

• to issue an Auditor’s Report that includes our opinions.  

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. They are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of the Financial Report. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Reports is located at the 
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website at: 
http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar3.pdf . This description forms part of our Auditor’s 
Report. 

 

  

KPMG Jillian Richards 
Partner 

 Brisbane 
26 August 2021 
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Corporate Governance Statement

Heritage’s Board and senior executives are committed to managing 
Heritage’s business ethically and maintaining the highest standards 
of corporate governance, applied in a manner that is appropriate to 
Heritage’s particular circumstances.

This Corporate Governance Statement generally describes the 
practices and processes adopted by Heritage to ensure its sound 
management including having regard to the regulatory environment 
in which it operates.

Heritage is an authorised deposit-taking institution supervised 
by the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority (APRA) under 
the Banking Act 1959 (Cth). Heritage is also supervised by the 
Australian Securities and Investments Commission under the 
Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) (Corporations Act) and has been 
granted both an Australian financial services and credit licence.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Role of the Board

The Board has adopted a formal Board Charter setting out the roles 
and responsibilities of the Board. The Board’s role is to provide 
leadership, strategic guidance and oversight of Heritage, including to: 
a)  oversee and evaluate Heritage’s strategies, policies and 

performance; 
b)  oversee Heritage’s performance to build sustainable value for 

members within a framework of prudent and effective controls 
that enable risks (including financial risks as well as misconduct, 
compliance and other non-financial risks) to be assessed and 
managed;  

c)  oversee Heritage’s values, including the establishment of a sound 
risk management and compliance culture; and 

d)  adopt and implement an appropriate governance framework  
for Heritage.

Relationship with Management

The Board has delegated responsibility for the operation and 
management of Heritage to the CEO subject to the overall 
supervision of the Board. The CEO is responsible for managing 
the day-to-day operations and management of Heritage. The CEO 
provides input and recommendations on strategic direction and has 
authority for implementing the approved strategic plan of Heritage 
in accordance with the decisions of the Board.

The CEO leads the senior executives, who meet regularly to review 
and report on Heritage’s business activities including its operations, 
financial performance and general strategic direction.

Board Composition

The Constitution of Heritage provides that the number of directors 
shall be between three and twelve and, in addition, may include not 
more than one employee director. Currently the Board is comprised 

of six independent non-executive directors. There is no  
employee director. 

One-third of the elected directors of Heritage must retire from office 
at each Annual General Meeting. A director must retire from office 
no later than the third Annual General Meeting after the director 
was last elected. 

Details of the directors and secretaries as at the date of this 
Corporate Governance Statement are set out in the Directors’ Report 
on pages 2-3. The Board periodically considers succession planning 
of directors and the CEO and in conjunction with the CEO considers 
succession planning for the senior executives.

The Board considers that collectively the directors of Heritage hold 
the range of skills, experience, knowledge and diversity appropriate 
to effectively direct and manage Heritage.

Director Independence

In assessing the independence of each director, the Board considers 
whether he or she has any relationships that would materially  
affect the director’s ability to exercise unfettered and independent 
judgment in the interests of Heritage and its members. In this 
regard, and more broadly, Heritage complies with APRA Prudential 
Standard CPS 510: Governance.

Conflicts of Interest

In accordance with the Corporations Act and Heritage’s Constitution, 
directors must keep the Board advised of any interest that could 
potentially conflict with the interests of Heritage. 

The Board has a policy to assist directors in disclosing material 
conflicts of interest. Transactions between non-executive directors 
and Heritage are subject to the same terms and conditions that 
apply to members. Senior executives, company secretaries and other 
key employees are also required to declare any material interests 
that could potentially conflict with the interests of Heritage.

BOARD PERFORMANCE ASSESSMENT

The Board is committed to continuous improvement and is subject 
to ongoing assessment and an annual internal formal evaluation 
process of the Board, Board Committees and the individual directors. 
Heritage complies with APRA Prudential Standard CPS 520: Fit and 
Proper which requires that those responsible (Responsible Persons) 
for the management and oversight of an authorised deposit-taking 
institution have the appropriate skills, experience and knowledge 
and that they act with honesty and integrity. 

The fitness and propriety of Responsible Persons must generally be 
assessed prior to their initial appointment and then re-assessed 
annually. Responsible Persons include all directors, senior executives, 
the company secretary and other key employees.
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BOARD PROCESSES

The Board currently holds eleven scheduled meetings each year plus 
any other meetings that may be required from time to time.

BOARD COMMITTEES

To assist in the execution of its responsibilities the Board has 
established the following Committees:

• Audit Committee

• Technology Committee

• Risk and Compliance Committee

• Remuneration and Nominations Committee

The roles and responsibilities and current membership of each  
of these Committees is shown in the table below. 

Each Committee operates under its own charter that is reviewed 
regularly. Details of the members of each Committee, and  
attendance at Committee meetings during the reporting period,  
are set out in the Directors’ Report on page 4.

The Board may establish other committees or change the  
committee structure from time to time as the circumstances  
require. All Board Committee Charters allow them to have access  
to advice from external advisers, with or without management 
present, as required. 

ACCESS TO INFORMATION AND 
INDEPENDENT PROFESSIONAL ADVICE

Each director has the right of access under a Deed of Indemnity, 
Access and Insurance to relevant Heritage information and, subject 
to prior consultation with and approval of the Chairman of the Board, 
may seek independent professional advice from a suitably qualified 
adviser in the area, to assist in the discharge of their duties as 
directors.

CONTINUING EDUCATION

All directors are encouraged and assisted to attend educational 
courses that serve to enhance their performance as directors. 
Membership of the Australian Institute of Company Directors (AICD) 
is paid for by Heritage and directors are actively encouraged to 
participate in courses offered by the AICD and other providers.

ETHICAL AND RESPONSIBLE  
DECISION MAKING

Code of Conduct

All directors, senior executives and other employees are expected to 
conduct themselves with the highest ethical standards of corporate 
behaviour whenever they are engaged in Heritage’s business. In 
this regard, the directors have adopted a Director Code of Conduct, 
and Heritage has also adopted an Employee Code of Conduct, which 
outlines the principles and standards with which all employees are 
required to comply in the performance of their respective duties.

Audit Committee Technology Committee
Risk and Compliance 
Committee

Remuneration and 
Nominations Committee

Roles and 
Responsibilities

Oversight of APRA 
statutory reporting 
requirements, financial 
reporting requirements, 
professional accounting 
requirements, internal 
audit and external audit. 

Oversight of the effectiveness 
of Heritage’s technology, 
strategies, priorities, risks, 
expenditure and regulatory 
issues relating to technology.

Oversight of the 
implementation and 
operation of the Bank’s 
risk management and 
compliance frameworks.

Oversight of remuneration 
policies and strategies, 
reviewing and considering 
the composition of 
the Board and making 
recommendations 
regarding appointments, 
retirements and terms of 
Directors. 

Current 
Membership 

Brendan Baulch  
– Chairman 

Stephen Davis

Wendy Machin

Kerry Betros (ex officio) 

Dennis Campbell – Chairman 

Stephen Davis 

Peter Clare

Kerry Betros (ex officio) 

Gerard O’Hara  
(independent member)

Peter Clare – Chairman 

Dennis Campbell

Brendan Baulch

Wendy Machin 

Kerry Betros (ex officio) 

Kerry Betros – Chairman 

Dennis Campbell  

Wendy Machin
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Corporate Governance Statement 
(continued)

COMMUNICATION

Regular Communication

Customers have access to information in relation to Heritage 
through the publication of the Member Report, the Financial  
Report, the Chairman’s and CEO’s addresses at the Annual 
General Meeting, and through the release of other important 
announcements to the media generally and on Heritage’s website. 
Copies of public announcements and Heritage’s Member Report  
and Financial Report are posted on Heritage’s website and are  
made available to the media.

Annual General Meeting

Heritage’s members have the opportunity to raise matters with the 
Board at the Annual General Meeting, generally held in October each 
year. Heritage’s current external auditor attends the Annual General 
Meeting and is available to answer questions regarding the conduct 
of the audit and the contents of the auditor’s report, the auditor’s 
independence and any accounting practices employed by Heritage 
in respect of the preparation of the financial statements.

Website

Information about the Board, senior executives and the Constitution 
can be found on Heritage’s website under the heading “About”.

RISK MANAGEMENT

Risk Management Approach

Heritage is committed to implementing appropriate strategies and 
processes that identify, analyse and manage the risks associated 
with its activities as a means of realising opportunities and 
minimising the impact of undesired and unexpected events on its 
business activities. Heritage has adopted an integrated approach to 
risk management which meets the international standard IS0 31000 
Risk Management. Heritage has an appointed Chief Risk Officer 
and is compliant with APRA Prudential Standards CPS 220 (Risk 
Management) and APS 310 (Audit & Related Matters).

Internal Audit

Heritage’s Internal Audit function supports the Board by providing 
certain assurance services. Heritage’s internal audit plan is approved 
by the Audit Committee. The Head of Internal Audit reports to the 
Chairman of the Audit Committee and to the CEO for day-to-day 
operational issues as appropriate. The Head of Internal Audit has 
unfettered access to the Chairman of the Board and the whole 
Board if required. The Internal Audit function is governed by an 
Internal Audit Charter.

External Auditor

Heritage’s current independent external auditor is KPMG. The key 
partner representatives are refreshed periodically in accordance 
with APRA’s prudential standards. The external auditor has access 
to the Audit Committee, Risk and Compliance Committee and the 
Board through the Chairman of the Board.

Statement by CEO and CFO

Prior to the Board approving the annual financial report, the CEO  
and the Chief Financial Officer are required to state in writing 
Heritage’s financial report presents a true and fair view, in all 
material respects, of Heritage’s financial position and operating 
results and is compliant with the relevant accounting standards.

Privacy

Heritage is committed to the protection of its members’ and 
customers’ personal information and Heritage’s Privacy Policy is 
available on Heritage’s website.

DIVERSITY

Heritage strives to provide a workplace that promotes gender  
equality and diversity.  You can read the report Heritage  
submitted to the Workplace Gender Equality Agency as required  
under the Workplace Gender Equality Act on our website at  
www.heritage.com.au/about/careers. 
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